
 

 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
City Council Regular Session 

Wednesday, March 6, 2024 
 

Council Chambers 
La Grande City Hall 
1000 Adams Avenue 

 
AGENDA 

 
The meeting will be available for viewing via the City’s scheduled Charter Communications channel 180 that will 
begin at 6:00 p.m. on March 6, 2024, on the EO Alive website at https://eoa.tv or on the EO Alive.TV Facebook page 
at https://www.facebook.com/EOAliveTV.  

 
1. WELCOME to this REGULAR SESSION of the LA GRANDE CITY COUNCIL  

a. Call to Order 
b. Pledge of Allegiance 
c. Roll Call 

 
2. AGENDA APPROVAL 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA 

The Consent Agenda includes routine items of business which may be approved by one Motion of the Council.  Any Councilor so desiring 
may by request remove one or more items from the Consent Agenda for Individual consideration under the Unfinished or New Business 
portion of the Agenda.  
a. Consider:  Approving Regular Session Minutes; February 7, 2024 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Those individuals who wish to address the Council in connection with any item which is printed on tonight’s Agenda may do so during the 
time that item is under discussion by the Council.  Individuals wishing to speak to the Council about non-Agenda items may do so during 
this Public Comments portion of the Agenda.  Please print your name and address on the Public Comments Sign-in Sheet, located on the 
podium.  When addressing the Council, speak loudly and clearly into the Podium microphone, and state your name.  Persons interested in 
providing virtual public comments shall contact City Staff at sstockhoff@cityoflagrande.org or by calling the City Recorder at (541) 962-
1309 not later than 5:00 pm the day prior to meeting to make arrangements.  In the event the Mayor does not announce a time limit for 
comments, each speaker is asked to confine their comments to three minutes in length, whether the comments are in-person or virtual. 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
a. Consider:  Ordinance; Second Reading: Amending Goal 9 Chapter of the La Grande Comprehensive Plan          [Boquist] 
 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
a. Consider:  Resolution: Authorizing City Staff to Apply for Grant to Replace Playground at Riverside Park           [Spence]  
b. Consider:  Appointing Citizen to Library Commission                                                [Rock] 

 
8. UNION COUNTY COMMISSIONER’S UPDATE 

 
9. STAFF COMMENTS 

 
10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 

 
11. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
12. ADJOURN   

________________ 
 Stacey M. Stockhoff 
 City Recorder 
 
The City Council is currently scheduled to meet again in a Regular Session on Wednesday, April 3, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. The City Council of the City of 

La Grande reserves the right to convene an Executive Session for any purpose authorized under ORS 192.660. Persons requiring special 
accommodations who wish to participate in the City Council Meeting are encouraged to make arrangements prior to the meeting by calling 541-962-

1309. The City of La Grande does not discriminate against individuals with disabilities. 

https://eoa.tv/
https://www.facebook.com/EOAliveTV
mailto:sstockhoff@cityoflagrande.org


Agenda Item. 3.a. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  March 6, 2024 
 
PRESENTER:           Robert A. Strope, City Manager 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:          CONSIDER CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report. 
 
 2.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion: 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move we accept the Consent Agenda as 

presented.  
 
   OR 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move we accept the Consent Agenda as 

amended.  
 
 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion. 
  
 4.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote. 
  
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  A Consent Agenda includes routine items of business with limited public interest, which may 
be approved by one Motion of the Council.  Any Councilor may, by request, remove any item of business from the 
Consent Agenda.  
 

a. Consider:  Approving Regular Session Minutes; February 7, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
  Effective Date:     



Agenda Item 3.a. 
Office Use Only 

 

CITY of LA GRANDE 

 

City Council Regular Session 

 

February 7, 2024 
 

 

Council Chambers 

La Grande City Hall 

1000 Adams Avenue  
 

MINUTES 

 

 

COUNCILORS PRESENT:   COUNCILORS ABSENT EXCUSED: 

Justin Rock, Mayor        Corrine Dutto, Councilor 

David Glabe, Mayor Pro Tem        

Nicole Howard, Councilor 

Molly King, Councilor 

Mary Ann Miesner, Councilor   

Denise Wheeler, Councilor 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

Robert Strope, City Manager 

Stacey Stockhoff, City Recorder 

Keri Quinn, Assistant to the City Manager 

Gary Bell, Police Chief 

Timothy Bishop, Economic Development Director 

Michael Boquist, Community Development Director 

Carrie Bushman, Library Director 

Emmitt Cornford, Fire Chief 

Heather Rajkovich, Finance Director 

Stu Spence, Parks and Recreation Director 

  

CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/ 

ROLL CALL/AGENDA APPROVAL Mayor ROCK called to order this Regular Session of the 

Council at 6:00 p.m. Roll Call was taken and a quorum was 

determined to be present. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Consider: Approving Regular Session  

Minutes; January 3, 2024 

b. Consider:  Approving OLCC Liquor License;  

La Grande Liquor Store and Smoke Shoppe 

c. Consider:  Authorizing Mayor to sign Letter  

for Audit Finding Corrective Plan 

 

MIESNER asked if the applicant for the liquor license already 

had a license, to which BELL responded that the license 

was for a change of ownership for the store.  Even though 

the applicant already had a liquor license, they needed a 

new one for purchasing the store. 

 

The following Motion was introduced by MIESNER; 

HOWARD providing the Second:  
 



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 2 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

  

MOTION MOTION: I move that we accept the Consent Agenda as 

presented.   

 

VOTE MSC: 6-0 (Yes: ROCK, GLABE, HOWARD, KING, MIESNER 

and WHEELER; No: None)  

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS Eli COX, student from La Grande High School and local Boy 

Scout, introduced himself and stated that he was attending 

the meeting to learn about city government to earn his 

Citizenship in the Community Merit Badge. 

 

 Shane ROLLINS, resident of Cove, stated he was running for 

Union County Sheriff. He gave a brief description of his 

career in the military and believes his leadership would 

benefit the Sheriff’s Department.  

  

PUBLIC HEARINGS  

a. Consider: Ordinance; First Reading:  

Amending Goal 9 Chapter of the La Grande  

Comprehensive Plan      

 

RULES OF ORDER Mayor ROCK announced that the Public Hearing was open 

at 6:05 p.m. and asked City Recorder STOCKHOFF to read 

the Rules of Order in their entirety. 

 

STAFF REPORT Mayor ROCK requested the Staff Report. 

 

 Michael BOQUIST, Community Development Director 

  

 BOQUIST stated that the Goal 9 – Economic Development 

Chapter of the City of La Grande Comprehensive Plan 

Ordinance 3255, Series 2022, was proposed to be amended, 

with the entire Goal 9 Chapter being repealed and replaced 

with the updated Economic Opportunities Analysis that was 

completed in September, 2023, along with updated 

economic development goals and policies which were 

reviewed and recommended for approval by the Urban 

Renewal Advisory Commission (URAC) and Planning 

Commission. 

 

 MIESNER asked if anyone attended the Planning 

Commission Meeting and spoke in favor or opposition of 

the proposed amendments, to which BOQUIST replied that 

people attended the meeting to hear what the process 

entailed; however, there was no public testimony. 

 

BOQUIST briefly described the next steps in the process if 

the proposed Ordinance was approved, including the Goal 

14 phase. 

 

PUBLIC TESTIMONY     None. 



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 3 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION MIESNER asked if the information presented was online and 

accessible for the public, to which BOQUIST stated it was 

available on the City website, specifically on the Community 

Development page. 

 

Upon Mayor ROCK’s request, City Recorder STOCKHOFF 

read the proposed Ordinance by Title Only. 

 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA 

GRANDE, UNION COUNTY, OREGON, AMENDING THE 

STATEWIDE GOAL CHAPTER 9 OF THE CITY OF 

LA GRANDE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RECODIFYING THE 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; REPEALING ORDINANCE 

NUMBER 3255, SERIES 2022, AND ALL OTHER 

ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH; AND DECLARING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 Mayor ROCK announced that the Public Hearing would be 

continued to March 6, 2024, at which time the proposed 

Ordinance was scheduled to be read a Second Time by Title 

Only and considered for Adoption. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS    None. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

a. Consider: Resolution; Approving Increase  

in Refuse Collection Fees; Waste Pro 

 

STAFF REPORT     Mayor ROCK requested the Staff Report. 

  

Robert A. Strope, City Manager 

 

STROPE noted that the City received a call from Darin 

Larvik, operator of Waste-Pro, and requested that the City 

consider an increase in fees to be effective March 1, 2024, if 

approved.  The requested increase was 3.4%, which was in 

line with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for 2023.  Larvik 

provided a letter which outlined the basis for the increase: 

 

• Fuel was down 7% on a year over year basis 

• Labor costs up 15% 

• Equipment cost replacements increased with 

significant lag time for delivery 

• Recycling to market prices decreased resulting in a 

decrease in revenue 

• Disposal/Landfill costs were up 5% 

 

STROPE stated that in January, 2023, Waste-Pro requested 

and received a 7.1% increase.  The Franchise Agreement 

(Ordinance 3248, Series 2020) required increases be 

approved by Resolution of the City Council.  The proposed 



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 4 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

Resolution showed the current and proposed rates in the 

legislative format with the current rates lined through and 

the proposed rates underlined.  Note that new rates were 

rounded to the nearest $0.05 and the increases for 300 

Gallon service included the added cost of wind stabilization 

rings on the containers.    

 

MIESNER asked if there was a reduced price for a weekly 

pickup service for those who were on reduced rates for 

water and sewer, to which STROPE was not sure and stated 

that Darin LARVIK would be at the meeting shortly to answer 

questions. 

 

Mayor ROCK postponed this discussion pending the arrival 

of Darin LARKVIK. 

 

b. Consider: Adopting Retreat Summary and  

City/District Manager’s Top Priorities for  

Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

 

STAFF REPORT  Mayor ROCK requested the Staff Report. 

  

Robert Strope, City Manager 

 

STROPE noted that the City of La Grande City Council, City 

Manager, and Department Directors participated in the 

Council’s Annual Goal Setting Retreat on Monday, January 

22, 2024.  During this Session, goals and priorities for Fiscal 

Year 2024-2025, were identified and discussed in 

preparation for developing the proposed Budget for the next 

Fiscal Year.  Those goals and priorities were included in the 

summary of the Council Retreat 2024, and would serve as 

direction and guidance from the City Council.  Additionally, 

the City Council established the City/District Manager’s Top 

Priorities for Fiscal Year 2024-2025. 

 

STROPE stated that the Urban Renewal Agency would also 

adopt the same top priorities and approve the City and 

Urban Renewal Economic Development summary at their 

Regular Meeting. 

 

STROPE discussed in brief the different work sessions that 

would be scheduled in 2024, and reminded the Councilors 

that an updated calendar could be viewed on the Monthly 

Report that he would be sending to them in the next couple 

of days.  

 

MIESNER asked if the City Charter amendment would be on 

the November ballot, to which STROPE answered that was 

the intention.   She also asked if the gas tax work session 

would include electric cars in the discussion, to which 

STROPE stated yes. 



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 5 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS     None. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION    None. 

 

 The following Motion was introduced by HOWARD; GLABE 

providing the Second: 

 

MOTION MOTION: I move that the City/District Manager’s Top 

Priorities for Fiscal Year 2024-2025, as discussed during the 

Annual Council Retreat on January 22, 2024, and outlined on 

the attached City Council Retreat Summary, be adopted as 

presented. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION None. 

 

VOTE MSC: 6-0 (Yes: ROCK, GLABE, HOWARD, KING, MIESNER 

and WHEELER; No: None) 

 

a. Consider: Resolution; Approving Increase  

in Refuse Collection Fees; Waste Pro 

 

STAFF REPORT CONTINUED City Manager STROPE resumed the Staff Report for item 7.a. 

when Darin LARVIK arrived. 

 

MIESNER asked if there was a reduced price for a weekly 

pickup service for those who were on reduced rates for 

water and sewer, to which LARVIK explained that this 

service was only for those on a monthly pickup, over the 

age of 70, and within a certain income range.  

 

 LARVIK explained there was a 3.4% increase to all services; 

however, there were two items that had a larger increase 

which included 300-gallon tubs and the yard and a half size 

dumpster. The 300-gallon tubs all had a ring installed to help 

stabilize them in the wind which added an additional cost. 

The yard and a half size container rate increased due to the 

fact those rates had not been adjusted in years. 

  

 A discussion was held on the appropriateness of the 

dumpsters being in front of residential homes and the safety 

concerns of them being in the street. 

 

 LARVIK confirmed that the stabilization rings on the 

containers were installed before delivery to the customer. 

  

PUBLIC COMMENTS None. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION                         None. 

 

MOTION  The following Motion was introduced by GLABE; HOWARD 

providing the Second:  



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 6 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

 

MOTION: I move that the proposed Resolution increasing 

fees for refuse collection by Waste-Pro be Read by Title 

Only, Put to a Vote and Passed. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION                           None. 

 

Upon Mayor ROCK’s request, City Recorder STOCKHOFF 

read the proposed Resolution by Title Only. 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

LA GRANDE, UNION COUNTY, OREGON, ADOPTING A 

HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE PROGRAM; 

AUTHORIZING A COMMINGLED CURBSIDE RECYCLING 

PROGRAM; ESTABLISHING FEES FOR VARIOUS REFUSE 

COLLECTION SERVICES, INCLUDING A FUEL COST 

ESCALATOR; AND REPEALING RESOLUTION NUMBER 

4829, SERIES 2023; ALL OTHER RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS 

OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH [4857] 

 

VOTE MSC: 6-0 (Yes: ROCK, GLABE, HOWARD, KING, MIESNER, 

and WHEELER; No: None) 

 

c. Consider: Appointing Citizens to the Arts  

Commission, Library Commission and Parks  

and Recreation Commission 

 

 Justin ROCK, Mayor 

 

 The following Motion was introduced by ROCK; HOWARD 

providing the Second: 

  

MOTION Motion: I move that Caitlin Burke be appointed to the Arts 

Commission, for a three-year term, which will expire 

December 31, 2026. 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION None. 

 

VOTE MSC: 6-0 (Yes: ROCK, GLABE, HOWARD, KING, MIESNER 

and WHEELER; No: None) 

 

The following Motion was introduced by ROCK; HOWARD 

providing the Second: 

 

MOTION Motion: I move that Susan Dennis be appointed to the 

Library Advisory Commission, for a four-year term, which 

will expire December 31, 2027. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION MIESNER asked why her application was not filled out in the 

section that was for describing why they would like to 

volunteer, to which BUSHMAN answered that Susan had 



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 7 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

been a patron of the library for years and would be a good 

person to have on the commission.  

  

 A brief discussion was held regarding this section of the 

application and how it would help explain why the applicant 

wanted to volunteer, to which Council consensus was 

reached that this section would be required to be filled out 

with an answer before being considered for appointment to 

a committee or commission.  

 

VOTE MSC: 6-0 (Yes: ROCK, GLABE, HOWARD, KING, MIESNER 

and WHEELER; No: None) 

 

The following Motion was introduced by ROCK; GLABE 

providing the Second: 

 

MOTION Motion: I move that Steven Antell and John Briney be 

appointed to the Parks and Recreation Advisory 

Commission, each for a three-year term, which will expire 

December 31, 2026. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION MIESNER noted that one of the applicants did not fill out the 

section in the application that described why they wanted to 

volunteer, to which SPENCE explained that John Briney has 

been on the committee and was re-applying for 

reappointment. 

 

VOTE MSC: 6-0 (Yes: ROCK, GLABE, HOWARD, KING, MIESNER 

and WHEELER; No: None) 

 

UNION COUNTY COMMISSIONER UPDATE Commissioner Matt SCARFO spoke about Oregon’s 

legislative short session that began Monday, February 5, 

2024. He had spoken to senators, representatives and the 

governor on the wastewater project for the fairgrounds and 

received positive feedback. 

 

 SCARFO noted there was a Greater Idaho Meeting 

scheduled on Wednesday, February 14, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. in 

the Union County Commissioner’s Chamber. 

 

 SCARFO stated he was going to Washington D.C. for a 

National Association of Counties (NACO) Conference and 

would be meeting with federal lobbyists trying to obtain 

federal dollars for projects in our community.  He offered the 

Councilors the opportunity to share with him any project 

ideas so that he could present their requested projects to 

lobbyists while attending the conference. 

 

 SCARFO mentioned he would help gather those needed 

from the County offices for the work session related to 

animal control since that was a priority that came out of the 

Council’s retreat.  



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 8 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

 

 SCARFO discussed an access issue to MERA that a few 

concerned community members had shared with the local 

newspaper.  He stated that the Owsley Canyon Road access 

point was closed due to safety reasons, however, the Fox 

Hill access point was accessible.     

 

 WHEELER asked what the status of Measure 110 was in 

regards to Oregon’s legislative short session, to which 

SCARFO replied the main discussion during the short 

session was deciding whether to change the misdemeanor 

description for crimes related to drug use. 

 

 A brief discussion was held about Measure 110 and the 

pledge for treatment centers that never came to completion.  

 

HOWARD mentioned the MERA issue and noted frustration 

in the community about the closure. A suggestion was made 

to communicate these closures through different avenues, 

to which SCARFO responded that winter time was the 

slowest for MERA, so this was when maintenance was to be 

performed. He would pass along the frustrations on the 

communication regarding the road closures. 

 

A brief discussion was held about the timetable and amount 

of money that would be needed for completion of the 

sewage project at the fairgrounds. 

 

 GLABE expressed that there would be a few various 

projects that he would like SCARFO to mention at the 

National Association of Counties Conference, to which 

SCARFO reminded the Councilors to send him a list. 

 

STAFF COMMENTS  Chief BELL noted that advertising was out for different 

positions at the Police Department, including a 911 

Dispatcher and a Police Officer Position.  

  

 BELL stated there was a crisis state-wide concerning drug 

overdoses. In 2023, there was a call increase in our 

community for overdoses that was up 3% from the last 

calendar year. To put into perspective, it was an increase of 

500% from calendar year of 2020. These numbers have not 

captured the entire picture; it was only for calls to the City’s 

911 Dispatch Center. 

 

 In regards to previous concerns about the current location 

of the Warming Station, GLABE asked if the Police 

Department was receiving any calls on this location 

recently, to which BELL replied they have been negligible. 

There was patrol in the area during the Warming Station’s 

opening and closing times, regular patrols go through the 



City of La Grande 

City Council Minutes 

Regular Session of February 7, 2024 

Page 9 
 
 

S:\Manager's Office\MEETINGS\MINUTES\2024\CITY COUNCIL\02-07-2024 Council Minutes.doc 

 

area as well and additional street lighting was placed after a 

discussion with neighbors.  

 

 WHEELER mentioned that patrons of the Warming Station 

were sorting through other people’s trash bins, to which 

BELL replied that if someone had a complaint regarding this 

situation, they call dispatch so the police can help mitigate 

those types of issues.  

  

 BELL mentioned calls for service that were categorized as 

being related to persons experiencing homelessness have 

increased throughout the community, not just in the 

neighborhood where the Warming Station was located. They 

were up 25% in 2023, compared to 2022, which equated to a 

429% increase from 2020.  

 

 SPENCE noted the Riverside Park playground replacement 

project was going great. A brief discussion was held about 

the amount of money that was still needed and the potential 

sources of where it would come from.   

 

 BUSHMAN stated that on February 17, 2024, at 4:00 p.m., 

Poet Laureate Anis Mojgani would be doing a reading at 

Cook Memorial Library and invited everyone to attend.  

 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS STROPE stated that earlier in the week he had a 

conversation over the phone with representatives from 

Senator Merkley and Senator Wyden’s office about the 

Eastside Water and Sewer project which would be submitted 

for federal funding. An application was in process and due 

February 25, 2024. 

 

 STROPE mentioned he would be sending the Monthly 

Report to the Councilor’s the following week. 

 

CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS GLABE announced he had the cash prize from the Chili 

Cook-off that the Councilors won first place for, in October 

2023, and the Councilors wanted to donate the cash prize to 

fund city streets.  

 

There being no further business to come before this Regular Session of the Council, Mayor ROCK adjourned the 

meeting to the Urban Renewal Agency Session at 7:05 p.m. The Council is scheduled to meet again in Regular 

Session on Wednesday, March 6, 2024, at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers of City Hall, 1000 Adams Avenue, La 

Grande, Oregon.  

 

 

_________________________________________  ____________________________________________ 

Stacey M. Stockhoff  Justin B. Rock 

City Recorder  Mayor 

 

 

APPROVED:  ______________________________ 







RULES OF ORDER FOR A LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 
CITY RECORDER READS TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
A. These Rules of Order are applicable to the Public Hearing for considering amendments to the Goal 9 Chapter 

of the City of La Grande Comprehensive Plan. 
 

B. This is a legislative hearing, therefore Councilor ex parte or pre-hearing contact does not apply. 
 
C. The Hearing will proceed as follows: 
 

1. The Mayor will open the Public Hearing and request the Staff Report. 
 

2. The Mayor will then accept public testimony relating to the matter.  There is a three-minute time limit for 
testimony.  The order of testimony this evening will begin with that of Proponents (those in favor), followed 
by Opponents (those opposed), and ending with those Neutral to the Ordinance being adopted.   
 

3. The proceedings are being electronically recorded, to be converted to written Minutes.  When testifying, 
please step to the podium and clearly print your name and address on the speaker sign-in sheet.  Please 
state only your name before addressing the Council. 
 

4. Members of the City Council may ask questions of the Staff at any time. 
 

5. Subsequent to deliberation, the Mayor will close the Hearing. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY of LA GRANDE 
ORDINANCE NUMBER _________ 

SERIES 2024 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA GRANDE, UNION COUNTY, 
OREGON, AMENDING THE STATEWIDE GOAL CHAPTER 9 OF THE CITY OF LA GRANDE 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; RECODIFYING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; REPEALING ORDINANCE 
NUMBER 3255, SERIES 2022, AND ALL OTHER ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND DECLARING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 

WHEREAS, Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660, Division 9, includes Statewide 
Planning Goal 9 (Economic Development), with the intent for cities to provide an adequate land 
supply for economic development and employment growth; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660, Division 9, provides requirements for 

conducting an economic opportunities analysis (EOA) and forecasting commercial and industrial 
employment land needs, which are to be adopted and implemented through the Goal 9 Chapter of 
a city’s comprehensive plan; and, 

 
WHEREAS, in February, 2023, the City of La Grande entered into a contract with Points 

Consulting, LLC, to conduct an EOA in conformance with Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660, 
Division 9; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the EOA was completed in October, 2023, identifying a net job growth over the 

next 20-years (2023-2043) of +7.5% to +12%, which forecasts a need of 31 additional acres of 
industrial land and 28 additional acres of commercial land over this period.  When taking other 
qualitative factors into consideration, such as characteristics of parcel sizes and shapes, locations 
and geographic proximity to each other, site availability-willing sellers, and other factors, the Goal 
9 EOA identifies a greater demand and need of +121 acres of industrial zoned land and +63 acres 
of commercially zoned land; and, 

 
WHEREAS, in November, 2023, the City of La Grande Urban Renewal Advisory Commission 

met and recommended specific updates to the Comprehensive Plan Goal 9 goals and policies to 
support the conclusions and implementation of the EOA, as well as other long-range economic 
development efforts and goals; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the City of La Grande City Council held a work session on January 8, 2024, to 

hear and discuss a presentation on final conclusions of the EOA, along with the Goal 9 goals and 
policies amendments recommended by the Urban Renewal Advisory Commission; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the City of La Grande Planning Commission held the first evidentiary Public 

Hearing on January 9, 2024, to consider the proposed EOA and Comprehensive Plan Goal 9 
amendments, and by unanimous vote recommended approval to the City of La Grande City Council. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY OF LA GRANDE ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  The Comprehensive Plan text is hereby amended and recodified as provided in 

Exhibit A, attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein as if fully set forth. 
 
Section 2.  The City Council of the City of La Grande, Union County, Oregon, shall and 

hereby does adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in the City Council Staff Report, 
dated March 6, 2024. 

 
Section 3.  Ordinance Number 3255, Series 2022, and all other Ordinances or parts of 

Ordinances in conflict herewith shall be and hereby are repealed. 
  

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/ruleSearch
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/ruleSearch
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/ruleSearch


City of La Grande  
Ordinance Number ________ 
Series 2024 
Page 2 of 3 
 

Section 4.  SEVERABILITY.  If any court of competent jurisdiction declares any Section of 
this Ordinance invalid, such decision shall be deemed to apply to that Section only and shall not 
affect the validity of the Ordinance as a whole or any part thereof other than the part declared 
invalid. 

 
Section 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after 

its adoption by the City Council of the City of La Grande, Union County, Oregon, and its approval 
by the Mayor; specifically, April 5, 2024. 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED on this Sixth (6th) day of March, 2024, by __________ 

(___) of __________ (___) Councilors present and voting in the affirmative. 
 

 
 

______________________________________ 
Justin B. Rock, Mayor 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Stacey M. Stockhoff 
City Recorder 
 
 
 
  



City of La Grande  
Ordinance Number ________ 
Series 2024 
Page 3 of 3 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

(NOTE:  For the First and Second Reading of the proposed Ordinance by the City of La Grande 
City Council, only the following proposed Goal 9 amendment was provided in the draft Ordinance.  

The final adopted Ordinance to be signed by the Mayor will include the entire codified 
Comprehensive Plan, with the amended Goal 9 – Economic Development chapter inserted.) 

 
 



City of La Grande Decision Order  Page 1 of 5 
Comprehensive Plan – Goal 9 Amendments 
File Number 01-CPA-24 
 
 

BEFORE THE CITY OF LA GRANDE 
DECISION ORDER 

 

File Number: 01-CPA-24        March 6, 2024 

 

HEARING BODY(IES): Planning Commission  City Council 
 (Recommendation) (Final Decision) 

HEARING DATE(S): Tuesday, January 9, 2024 Wednesday, February 7, 2024 
 Wednesday, March 6, 2024 

HEARING TIME(S): 6:00 p.m. 6:00 p.m. 

HEARING LOCATION: City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1000 Adams Avenue, La Grande, 
Oregon.  Members of the public may provide testimony in person, or may 
participate virtually.  To participate virtually, please contact the Planning 
Division not later than 5:00 p.m. the day prior to the meeting.  Community 
members may submit comments or questions in writing in advance of the 
meeting(s).  Written comments need to be received by 5:00 p.m. on date 
of the scheduled meeting(s), which will be read during the public comment 
section of the Public Hearing.  Issues which may provide the basis for an 
appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals must be raised in writing and 
with sufficient specificity to enable the Planning Commission or City 
Council to respond to the issues.  To submit written public comment, 
please email mboquist@cityoflagrande.org. 

 

I. Application Information 

Proposal: The Goal 9 – Economic Development Chapter of the City of La Grande 
Comprehensive Plan Ordinance 3255, Series 2022, is proposed to be 
amended, with the entire Goal 9 Chapter being repealed and replaced with 
an updated Economic Opportunities Analysis that was completed in 
September 2023, along with updated economic development goals and 
policies. 

Applicant: City of La Grande, Community Development Department 

Address/Location: Not Applicable; the Goal 9 Chapter of the Comprehensive Plan applies 
City-wide. 

Decision Order Prepared By: Michael J. Boquist, Community Development Director 

  

mailto:mboquist@cityoflagrande.org


City of La Grande Decision Order  Page 2 of 5 
Comprehensive Plan – Goal 9 Amendments 
File Number 01-CPA-24 
 
 

II. Schedule of Procedural and Public Hearing Requirements 

In accordance with Land Development Code Ordinance 3266, Series 2023, Articles 9.3 and 9.4, 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments are subject to the City Council’s review and decision authority, 
upon receiving a recommendation from the Planning Commission.  In accordance with Article 9.5, 
public meetings and public hearings for the consideration of the proposal were scheduled as 
follows: 

 

March 8, 2023 Stakeholder Outreach and Interviews 

July 24, 2023 Joint Work Session, before the Planning Commission & City 
Council 

November 16, 2023 Work Session, before the Urban Renewal Advisory Commission 

December 4, 2023 35-Day Required Notice to the DLCD 

December 18, 2023 Public Notice Mailed to all Property Owners (City and UGB), 21-
Days Minimum Required; and, Code Amendment materials 
posted on the City’s website. 

December 20, 2023 Public Notice Advertised in The Observer, Local Newspaper 

January 8, 2024 City Council Work Session 

January 9, 2024 Public Hearing #1, before the Planning Commission 

February 7, 2024 Public Hearing #2, before the City Council, and First Reading of 
the adopting Ordinance by Title Only. 

March 6, 2024 Public Hearing #3, before the City Council, and Second Reading 
of the adopting Ordinance by Title Only. 

March 7, 2024 DLCD Notice of City Adoption - Post Acknowledgement Plan 
Amendment (PAPA). 

April, 2024 Public Hearing #4, before the Union County Planning 
Commission for Co-Adoption. 

May, 2024 Public Hearing #5, before the Union County Board of 
Commissioners, and First Reading of the co-adopting Ordinance 
by Title Only. 

June, 2024 Public Hearing #6, before the Union County Board of 
Commissioners, and Second Reading of the co-adopting 
Ordinance by Title Only. 

June, 2024 DLCD Notice of County Adoption - Post Acknowledgement Plan 
Amendment (PAPA). 

  



City of La Grande Decision Order  Page 3 of 5 
Comprehensive Plan – Goal 9 Amendments 
File Number 01-CPA-24 
 
 
 

III. Public Notice Information 

Public notice was issued in accordance with City and State laws.  Notice was provided to the 
Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) on December 4, 2023, at 
least 35-days before the first evidentiary hearing in accordance with OAR 660-018-0020.  Public 
notice was mailed to all property owners within the City of La Grande and its Urban Growth 
Boundary (UGB) on December 18, 2023, at least 20-days in advance of the first evidentiary hearing 
in accordance with Land Development Code Ordinance 3266, Series 2023, Article 9.6, Section 
9.6.001(A).  All public hearing materials, including the Draft Decision Order, was published on the 
City of La Grande – Planning Division’s webpage, which meets or exceeds the requirements to be 
made available to the public at least seven days before the first evidentiary hearing. 

 

IV. Review Process and Appeals 

Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan Ordinance is a legislative review process that is subject 
to the Planning Commission’s and City Council’s review and approval.  The process requires the 
Planning Commission to first hold a public hearing to consider the proposed amendments and 
make a recommendation(s) to the City Council.  The Planning Commission’s recommendation(s) 
cannot be appealed.  The City Council then holds a subsequent public hearing to consider the 
proposed amendments, along with the Planning Commission’s recommendation(s).  In total, the 
City Council holds at least two (2) public hearings to consider the proposed amendments, with 
public comments typically considered during the first public hearing.  After the closing of the second 
public hearing, the City Council deliberates and may make a final decision.  Upon receiving a final 
decision from the City Council, the City of La Grande Community Development Director mails 
written notice of the decision to any parties entitled to such notice.  Such decision can then be 
appealed to the Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) if a person with standing files a Notice 
of Intent to Appeal within twenty-one (21) days of the date the decision was mailed, or thirty (30) 
days from the date of Ordinance adoption, whichever is later. 

Subsequent to the City Council’s decision, the proposed amendments are forwarded to Union 
County for co-adoption and for implementation within the City of La Grande Urban Growth 
Boundary.  This co-adoption goes before the Union County Planning Commission for a 
recommendation and subsequently to the Union County Board of Commissioners for adoption.  A 
final decision of the Union County Board of Commissioners may also be appealed to the Oregon 
Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA).  



City of La Grande Decision Order  Page 4 of 5 
Comprehensive Plan – Goal 9 Amendments 
File Number 01-CPA-24 
 
 

V. Recommended Conclusions and Order 

Based on the analysis and Findings of Fact in this Decision Order, the proposed Goal 9 Comprehensive 
Plan amendment satisfies the requirements established in Land Development Code Ordinance 3266, 
Series 2023, Article 8.9, and are consistent with Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660, Division 9. 
 
On November 16, 2023, the Urban Renewal Advisory Commission (URAC) met to discuss the conclusions 
of the economic opportunities analysis and consider proposed amendments to the Goal 9, goals, objectives, 
and policies.  By unanimous vote, the URAC recommended approval of the Goal 9 amendments, which 
includes the economic opportunities and analysis and revised/updated goals, policies and objectives. 
 
On January 9, 2024, the Planning Commission met to consider the Goal 9 amendments, which includes 
the economic opportunities and analysis and revised/updated goals, policies and objectives; and, by 
unanimous vote recommended approval to the City Council. 
 
Upon receiving the recommendation from the URAC and Planning Commission, the City Council has the 
following three options with respect to issuing a decision on the proposed Land Development Code 
Amendments: 
 

Option 1: Approve the proposed amendments as presented; or, 
 
Option 2: Approve the proposed amendments with modifications; or, 
 
Option 3: Deny the proposed amendments. 

 

VI. General Facts and Overview 

1. The City of La Grande’s last Goal 9 – economic opportunities analysis was conducted in 2009.  
Since that time, La Grande has been fortunate in seeing a number of commercial projects come 
to fruition which have resulted in a significant decrease in available commercial sites for new 
development.   

2. Significant projects over the past 10-15 years include the development of large commercial 
parcels along Island Avenue (Hwy 82), Mulholland Drive and May Lane to support new or 
expanding businesses such as Starbucks, Banner Bank, Napa Auto Parts, Commercial Tire, 
Hampton Inn Suites and Miller’s Home Center.  In addition to these, a number of smaller infill 
projects have also occurred throughout the City. 

3. As a result of these projects, the City’s vacant commercial land inventory has been reduced to 
critical levels with a very limited supply of land available for both new business recruitment and 
the expansion of existing local businesses. 

4. To address the available land supply shortage, the City proactively decided in 2022, to move 
forward with a self-funded Goal 9 economic opportunities analysis to evaluate the City’s 
existing commercial and industrial land inventory, to forecast the next 20-year economic growth 
and land need, and to update the Goal 9 Economic Development Chapter of the La Grande 
Comprehensive Plan. 

5. In February, 2023, the City contracted with Points Consulting & Nexus Planning Services to 
conduct a Goal 9 economic opportunities analysis and buildable lands inventory (Goal 9 EOA). 

6. The Goal 9 EOA was completed per the methodology and requirements provided in OAR 660-
009, and completed in October, 2023. 

7. The conclusions of the 2023 Goal 9 EOA identifies La Grande having an employment growth 
in the range of 470 and 760 jobs over the next twenty-years (2023-2043), resulting in net job 
growth of +7.5% to +12%.  Based solely on future employment growth, by 2043, La Grande 



City of La Grande Decision Order  Page 5 of 5 
Comprehensive Plan – Goal 9 Amendments 
File Number 01-CPA-24 
 
 

will require: 31 additional acres of industrial lands and 28 additional acres of commercial lands.  
Taking other qualitative factors into consideration, such as characteristics of parcel sizes and 
shapes, locations and geographic proximity to each other, site availability-willing sellers, and 
other factors, the Goal 9 EOA identifies a greater demand and need of +121 acres of industrial 
zoned land and +63 acres of commercially zoned land. 

8. To ensure that different business types are accommodated, the Goal 9 EOA identifies land 
uses being divided according to appropriate zoning districts. The identified 184 acres could 
result in between 48 and 88 additional lots spread across a variety of districts as follows: 

Required Lot Sizes for Additional Industrial & Commercial Lands 

District Type Acreage 
Range 

Gross 
Acreage 

High-End 
Lots 

Low-End 
Lots 

General Commercial (GC) 0.5 – 1 15.8 32 16 

Interchange Commercial (IC) or Other Low-
Intensity Commercial 

1.3 - 2.2 47.4 38 22 

Light Industrial (I-1) 4.5 - 7.5 48.3 11 6 

Heavy Industrial (I-2) 20 – 50 66.4 3 1 

Business Park (BP) 1.5 - 2.5 6.0 4 2 

Grand Total -- 183.9 88 48 

9. Following the completion of the 2023 Goal 9 EOA, the City of La Grande Urban Renewal 
Advisory Commission met on November 16, 2023, to discuss and recommend updates to the 
Comprehensive Plan Goal 9 goals and policies to guide economic development efforts over 
the next twenty-years (2023-2043). 

10. Attached to this Decision Order:  Exhibit A – (Final) Goal 9: Economic Opportunities Analysis 
& Buildable Lands Inventory, prepared by Points Consulting & Nexus Planning Services, 
October 10, 2023. 

11. Attached to this Decision Order:  Exhibit B – Land Development Code Ordinance 3266, Series 
2023, Article 8.9 – Comprehensive Plan Document Amendment, Review Criteria and Findings. 

 



 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 

 

GOAL 9 

ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS 

& BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY 

 

  



Red Strikethrough – W/ Track Changes are recommended for deletion. 
Blue Underline – Recommended added text. 
 
 

Statewide Planning Goal 9 - Economic Development 
 

I. GOAL AND POLICIES 

The following goals, objectives, policies and recommendations have been formulated by the City to direct 
the community’s economic development program during the next five to ten years. 
 

A. GOALS 
Goal 1 – To Create High Quality Family Wage Jobs 
To promote industrial and commercial development that generates high quality family wage jobs and 
income for the community and creates sustainable and environmentally sound economic vitality. 
 
Goal 2 – To support economic development, strengthen key industries and promote workforce 
development 
Work collaboratively with key employers including but not limited to Eastern Oregon University, La Grande 
School District, and Grande Ronde Hospital for economic development activities to support and strengthen 
key industries, and workforce development.   
Goal 2 – To Foster the Growth and Expansion of Eastern Oregon University 
To support the university in its efforts to grow and target educational programs to the region and the state.  
Provide sites and other infrastructure to businesses seeking to partner with the university. 
 
Goal 3 –To Promote Retail Development 
To promote the development of the City as a Regional Shopping Center by providing a greater range of 
retail services for residents and visitors.  As a Regional Center, allow residents to satisfy their shopping 
needs within the Community and provide a greater range of services for travelers on I-84. 
 
Goal 4 – To Revitalize the Downtown 
To revitalize the Central Business District by building on its historic character, expanding the mix of goods 
and services offered and creating public spaces and amenities. 
 
Goal 5 – To Establish Sufficient Capacity for Commercial and Industrial Development 
To amend the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and consider an Urban Reserve Area (URA) to provide for 
sufficient land to meet the City’s long-term commercial and industrial economic development goals. 
 

B. OBJECTIVES 
1. To provide public improvements and infrastructure to support job-creating development.  Provide 

planning and funding for public improvements including streets, utilities, telecommunications and other 
facilities in support of development that will create a range of types of family wage jobs for residents of 
La Grande. 

 
2. To provide appropriate sites for businesses creating family wage jobs.  Assist in land assembly and 

infrastructure development for quality industrial districts and business parks to attract businesses that 
create family wage jobs. To manage the locations of the allowable uses to ensure that the land is 
properly utilized.   

 
3. To coordinate the City’s economic development program with the citizens of La Grande, community-

based organizations, Union County, Union County Economic Development Corporation, the Union 
County Chamber of Commerce, the Oregon Community and Economic Development Department 



(OCEDD), Northeast Oregon Economic Development District (NEOEDD) [RS1]and other local, regional, 
state and federal agencies. 

 
4. To continue and enhance the City’s economic development program with EOU as a means of attracting 

and retaining businesses. 
 
45. To provide public improvements to sites for retail development. To plan and develop infrastructure and 

public facilities to encourage retail and mixed-use projects. 
 
56. To diversify and strengthen the mix of economic activity in the City of La Grande and the surrounding 

region without diminishing the livability of the area. 
 
67. To support and utilize regional and local partnerships for greater economic development opportunities. 

C. POLICIES 
 
General 
Policy 1. The City shall undertake specific activities to encourage the retention and  growth of existing 

businesses, to encourage a diversity of businesses, and to attract new businesses to the 
community in industries that will provide local employment opportunities that are consistent with 
community needs and not detrimental to the quality of life in the community. 

 
Policy 2. The City shall undertake specific activities to encourage and support entrepreneurship as a key 

business development strategy. 
 
Policy 23. The City shall evaluate the suitability of a proposed industrial development according, but not 

limited, to the following factors: availability of labor force and materials, market locations, 
transportation and service needs, relationship to present economic base and similar 
considerations. 

 
Policy 34. The City shall provide for adequate and convenient multimodal aAccess including, vehicle, public 

transit (via Community Connection of Oregon), pedestrian, and  and bicycle access, as well 
asand parking to accommodate customers and employees in commercial areas.  

 
Policy 45. The City shall require that business development occurs only after sufficient right-of-way, 

improvements, and special control of access points have been obtained to accommodate the 
added traffic generated. 

 
Policy 56. The City shall ensure that public services will be planned for and made available to those areas 

designated and zoned for industrial and commercial uses. 
 
Policy 67. The City shall promote and encourage investment in communications infrastructure, including 

broadband, to provide opportunities for remote offices, home-based employment, and other 
communications-dependent employment. 

 
Policy 78. The City shall focus economic development efforts on the following existing industry clusters: 

Wood Products, Education, General Manufacturing, sSmall-scale / Bboutique Mmanufacturing. 
Health Care; and the following emerging/targeted clusters: Regional Retail , , Tourism, tTruck 
and rRail tTransportation, and Ddistribution. Truck and Rail Transportation & Warehousing; and 
the following non-cluster opportunities: medical research and development, other medical 
services, suppliers, private firefighting, and tourism. 

 
Policy 8. The City shall take social, aesthetic, and environmental values into consideration when planning 

for commercial and industrial development. 
 



Policy 9. The City shall work with regional organizations (e.g., Northeast Oregon Economic Development 
District (NEOEDD), the Union County Economic Development Corporation (UCEDC), the 
Northeast Oregon Alliance, the Northeast Oregon Business Development, Inc. (NOBD), and the 
Greater Eastern Oregon Development Corporation (GEODC), and local organizations (e.g., 
Union Commercial Club and Union United) to enhance its economic planning efforts. 

 
 
Location of Uses 
Policy 10. The City shall encourage highway-oriented businesses to be located near intersections of major 

arterials. 
 
Policy 11. The City shall encourage the grouping of commercial uses in such a manner as will facilitate 

customer involvement from one store to another.   
 
Policy 12. The City shall locate commercial areas so as to provide good access between them and the trade 

area served. 
 
Policy 13. In order that residential areas may be free from industrial traffic, the City shall locate industrial 

areas with access provided primarily to and from major transportation routes which include 
arterial truck routes, highways, and railroad lines. 

 
Policy 14. The City shall require certain industrial uses generating heavy traffic, noise, smoke, or other 

nuisances to be located where it is feasible to provide a transition, with light industrial areas, 
commercial areas, or open space to adjoining land uses. 

 
Policy 15. The City shall encourage the separation of noise sensitive and noise-producing land uses; 

minimize noise impacts on surrounding properties and protect and maintain the quiet character 
of those areas of the community unaffected by major noise sources;, and locate, design, and 
buffer noise producing land uses to protect noise sensitive land uses. 

 
Policy 16. The City shall develop and maintain zoning regulations to ensure that commercial and industrial 

parking does not intrude into adjacent residential neighborhoods. 
 
Policy 17. The City shall encourage redevelopment of existing vacant and underutilized industrial and 

commercial lands rather than designating additional lands for these purposes whenever possible. 
 
 
Commercial and Industrial Sites 
Policy 1518. The City shall market the availability of commercial, industrial, and business park sites to 

potential employers who provide family wage jobs. Such marketing should include a description 
and timeline for the required land use approvals. 

 
Policy 16. The City or its urban renewal agency shall seek to aggregate and redevelop commercial parcels 

in the area bounded by Cove Avenue, North Albany Street, East R Avenue, and the Grande 
Ronde Ditch for commercial uses. 

 
Policy 1719. Where areas have been planned for large industrial sites, zoning regulations shall be 

developed and maintained to keep those sites intact. Such sites shall not be further divided 
except to create planned industrial parks or development that supports a specific industry.  

 
Policy 1820. The City shall protect lots with existing areas of two and one half (2½) acres or more in 

commercial and industrial zones by requiring approval of a Master Plan to govern proposed uses, 
development patterns, and parcel sizes, along with subdivisions, partitions, and property line 
adjustments. The Master Plan shall be used to guide growth and maximize the long-term potential 
for commercial and industrial employment in accordance with this Goal 9 Cchapter. 

 



Policy 1921. The City shall identifyCity has identified areas where in which large lot lands are to be 
located. The, the City shall develop limited use overlays and specific criteria to protect large 
sites from any partitioning or from development activity activities that would inhibit the 
availability of these lands for future large industrial users.  in the future 

 
 
Policy 22. To prevent decline in existing commercial and industrial areas, the City shall encourage, facilitate, 

and assist in the redevelopment of existing vacant and underutilized industrial and commercial 
lands in a manner that meets current standards rather than designating additional lands for these 
purposes whenever possible. 

 
 
 
Planning for Future Growth 
Policy 2023. The City shall identify land that will provide for the expansion of existing businesses and/or 

attract new businesses and shall reserve that land for future industrial development that is 
consistent with community needs and goals and not be detrimental to the quality of life in the 
area. 

 
Policy 2124. The City shall ensure that space for industries is reasonably scaled to the anticipated 

demand and need. 
 
Policy 225:. The City shall prioritize when possible the redevelopment of existing commercial lands to 

maximize infrastructure efficiencies and preserve capacity for larger parcels.  
 
Policy 2226. The City shall maintain at least a ten (10) year supply of vacant serviceable land in a range 

of parcel sizes within the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) to accommodate new employers and 
the growth of existing employers. 

 
Policy 23. The City should consider establishing Urban Reserve Areas (URAs) adjacent to the UGB to 

identify the location of future Commercial and Industrial lands that the City will likely include in 
future UGB expansions. The establishment of URAs would promote the long range planning of 
public utilities and services. The City of La Grande shall coordinate with Union County regarding 
the designation of URAs adjacent to the UGB for Heavy and Medium Industrial uses.  

 
Policy 2427. A Portion of tThe land areas to be added to the UGB and/or designated as Urban Reserve 

Areas (URAs) in the future (see Exhibit 2) shall include a limited use overlay and be reserved for 
businesses which demonstrate an actual need for medium to large sites of approximately 25 to 
100 acres or larger per business or development.  The objective of this policy shall be to maximize 
the long term potential for commercial and industrial employment in accordance with this Goal 9 
chapter and shall provide for the maximum use of the parcels, yet be consistent with all other 
applicable requirements of the law. 

 
 
Downtown 
Policy 2528. The City shall encourage Central Business District retail and service uses to remain 

concentrated and consolidated rather than geographically expanded. 
 
Policy 2629. In order to encourage residents to live within close proximity to their place of work, the City 

shall encourage mixed use development to provide opportunities for commercial, entertainment, 
professional, cultural, public, and residential activitiessupport and promote mixed-use 
development in the Central Business, General Commercial and Residential-Professional zones. 

 
Policy 2730. Residential development; i.e., residential units, shall be supported and encouraged on the 

second and higher floors in the Central Business and Ggeneral cCommercial Zones.  Residential 
uses shall also be permitted on the main and higher floors as identified in the “Residential Overlay 



Zone Map”, in an area of the GC General Commercial Zone, provided that the ground floor store 
front is used for retail or other commercial purposes.   

 
Policy 2831. The City shall support new commercial development along alleys in the downtown. 
 
Policy 2932. The City shall support enhancement ,the enhancement, adaptive reuse, and preservation 

of the existing Historic District in the downtown in order to help restore and protect historic 
buildings and create a sense of pride among property owners. 

D.  RECOMMENDATIONS 
The City shall consider the following development standards: 
 
A. Separate noise sensitive and noise-producing land uses; minimize noise impacts on surrounding 

properties and protect and maintain the quiet character of those areas of the community unaffected by 
major noise sources, and locate, design and buffer noise producing land uses to protect noise sensitive 
land uses. 

 
B. Regulate the type and intensity of land uses within areas subject to natural disasters and hazards. 
 
C. Require that all development along arterials and major collectors be preceded by and consistent with 

an approved Master Plan. 
 
D. A detailed traffic analysis may be required by the City to accompany a Master Plan, when a Master 

Plan is required, which finds that existing streets and intersections both on and off-site will 
accommodate the projected traffic increases, or; necessary improvements can be constructed which 
are in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan Transportation Map.   

 
E. Commercial and industrial parking shall not intrude into adjacent residential neighborhoods. 
 
F. When a Master Plan is required, incorporate into the Master Plan the following: 

 Provide the full range of required public facilities and services and pay commensurate system 
development charges; 

 Mitigate adverse impacts such as noise, traffic and visual aesthetics, on adjacent land uses through 
methods such as buffering, screening, parking controls, height, bulk and scale limits; 

 Participate in the development of a street system which provides efficient multi modal connection 
to higher order streets and to other activity centers; 

 Develop transit opportunities appropriate to the scale and character of the project; 

 Provide for a safe and convenient pedestrian and bicycle circulation system to and within the 
development; 

 Provide adequate, but not excessive parking for customers and employees; and, 

 Preserve natural resources and provide required open space. 
 
G. When a Master Plan is required, require that the Master Plan show: 

 Projects at full development including identification of all phases; 

 The locational, design and transportation relationships of proposed development with the rest of 
the business district and with surrounding land uses; 

 Measures necessary to mitigate adverse impacts on the transportation system and on adjacent 
land uses; and, 

 Design compatibility with surrounding land uses in regard to elements such as scale, bulk, 
materials, colors and landscaping. 

 
H. Support Encourage redevelopment of existing vacant and underutilized industrial and commercial lands 

rather than designating additional lands for these purposes whenever possible. 



M. To prevent decline in existing commercial areas, the City shall explore opportunities to facilitate and 
assist in the redevelopment of existing commercial areas, in a manner that meets current standards. 

 
 
I. Require all commercial and manufacturing operations, except those approved as a temporary use, 

including warehousing and storage, to be conducted either within enclosed buildings or screened from 
public view. 

 
J. Allow Encourage mixed use development to provide opportunities for commercial, entertainment, 

professional, cultural, public, and residential activities. 
 
K. Maximize the number of jobs per acre by utilizing the land resource in an efficient and functional 

manner. 
 
L. Industrial and commercial development adjacent to rail lines shall be designed and constructed in a 

way that does not preclude the future use of the rail facility. 
 
M. Given the community’s intention toTo prevent decline in existing commercial areas, the City shall 

explore opportunities to facilitate and assist in the redevelopment of existing commercial areas, in a 
manner that meets current standards. 

 
N. The City shall develop standards in the Land Development Code to encourage or require with 

development or redevelopment, the consolidation of vehicle accesses on arterial streets and major 
collectors, where appropriate and practical. 

 



Points Consulting 
PO Box 8487 

409 S. Jackson St., Suite 201 
Moscow, Idaho 83843 

208-596-5809 
points-consulting.com 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Goal 9: Economic 
Opportunities 
Analysis & Buildable 
Lands Inventory 

For: La Grande, Oregon 

From: Points Consulting & Nexus 
Planning Services 

Date: October 10th, 2023 

This Project is funded by Oregon general fund dollars through the Department of Land Conservation and Development. 
The contents of this document do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the State of Oregon.  



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Contents 
1. Executive Summary & Recommendations ................................................................................................ 1 

Report Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 3 

2. Land Usage & Supply Assessment ............................................................................................................. 5 

3. Socioeconomic Conditions ...................................................................................................................... 14 

National Economic Overview .................................................................................................................. 14 

Political & Regulatory Landscape ............................................................................................................ 18 

Regional Economic Overview .................................................................................................................. 19 

Union County & La Grande Socioeconomic Trends ................................................................................ 25 

Employment, Earnings, and Establishment Trends ................................................................................ 30 

Commuter & Transportation Data .......................................................................................................... 38 

4. Employment Forecast & Future Land Use Needs ................................................................................... 41 

Employment Forecast ............................................................................................................................. 41 

Employment Lands Forecast ................................................................................................................... 43 

Future Land Use Conclusions .................................................................................................................. 44 

5. Community Engagement Summary ........................................................................................................ 47 

6. Economic Opportunities Assessment ..................................................................................................... 49 

Economic Development Opportunities .................................................................................................. 49 

Land Availability Limitations ................................................................................................................... 52 

Recommendations for Economic Development Enhancements ............................................................ 53 

Appendix A: Supplementary Data ............................................................................................................... 54 

Appendix B: Zoning Code Definitions ......................................................................................................... 58 

Appendix C: Parcel Details for Redevelopable and Vacant Lands .............................................................. 62 

Appendix D: Full Size Maps of La Grande Vacant and Redevelopable Lands ............................................. 64 

 



 
 
 

 
1 | P a g e  
 

1. Executive Summary & Recommendations 
Through analysis of past employment trends, review of community and economic development plans, 
and discussions with community members, the consulting team forecasts healthy employment growth 
for La Grande over the next 20-years (2023-2043). We anticipate employment growth in the range of 
470 and 760 jobs over the next twenty-years, resulting in net job growth of +7.5% to +12%.  

DLCD guidance emphasizes the importance of responsible and efficient land-use within existing Urban 
Growth Boundaries (UGB) to prevent urban sprawl and deterioration of agricultural lands. With respect 
to those aims, both policy and economic conditions will nudge real estate developers toward in-fill and 
redevelopment over the next two decades. It is also clear that La Grande will need to undergo a UGB 
expansion and/or reconfiguration of the existing lands within the UGB via the Goal 14 process. Not 
doing this could stifle economic growth within the community. The forecasted employment lands 
shortage is determined based on expected growth in both commercial and industrial land-use sectors. 
Additionally, despite the existence of lands in the UGB, the City has lost numerous economic 
development opportunities over the past several years, pointing to a combination of issues including 
property ownership, zoning, and suitability or parcel sizes and locations. Based solely on future 
employment growth, we forecast that by 2043 La Grande will require: 31 additional acres of industrial 
lands and 28 additional acres of commercial lands. 

Beyond the gross acreage of existing inventory, the characteristics of existing parcels must also be 
noted. On the industrial side, though there are 45 tax lots available for development, there are just 
three lots greater than 20-acres. Each of these larger parcels have been infeasible to develop due to 
preferences of private landowners. Except for cases of low-impact cottage manufacturing, industrial 
businesses require between 20-50 acres (and sometimes more). The existing lots that are available are 
generally not in close geographic proximity to each other and are not held by a common owner, so 
collapsing them into larger lots is not feasible.  

On the commercial side, of the 44 parcels available, just one is larger than 10-acres and 14 are 
between one and ten acres. Commercial development can often occur on a much tighter scale than 
industrial development. That said, certain commercial businesses that would be a good fit for the City 
would not be able to develop in one-acre lots including businesses such as truck stops, hotels and big-
box stores. The one remaining area of town with some capacity for medium scale commercial 
development includes the series of parcels on Mulholland Drive near the intersection of Highway 82 and 
I-84.  

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
2 | P a g e  
 

After accounting for the qualitative factors noted above, however, the City would be best served by 
adding at least another 90-acres of industrial land and 35-acres of commercial land to “catch up” to 
undersupply and compensate for existing lands in the UGB that have proven to be effectively unusable 
for private sector development. Including these quantities and the forecasted demand by 2043, 
therefore, we anticipate the demand for industrial and commercial lands by 2043 to be: +121 acres of 
industrial land (or a 20% increase in gross industrial lands above existing inventory), and +63 acres of 
commercial land (a 14% increase). 

To ensure that different business types are accommodated, land use will need to be divided according 
to appropriate zoning districts. The recommended 184 acres could result in between 48 and 88 
additional lots spread across a variety of districts. Based on projected employment growth, the City’s 
Land Use Codes, and current industry expectations, PC recommends the following distributions 
according to districts. Note that although I-2 receives the highest share of gross acreage it would only 
result in between one and three new lots.  

Table 1: Required Lot Sizes for Additional Industrial & Commercial Lands 
District Type Acreage Range Gross Acreage High-End Lots Low-End Lots 

General Commercial (GC) 0.5 – 1 15.8 32 16 
Interchange Commercial (IC) or 
Other Low-Intensity Commercial 

1.3 - 2.2 47.4 38 22 

Light Industrial (I-1) 4.5 - 7.5 48.3 11 6 

Heavy Industrial (I-2) 20 – 50 66.4 3 1 

Business Park (BP) 1.5 - 2.5 6.0 4 2 

Grand Total -- 183.9 88 48 

 

 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
3 | P a g e  
 

Report Introduction 

The City of La Grande hired Points Consulting (PC) and Nexus Planning Services (NPS) to develop an 
Economic Development and Employment Land Assessment for La Grande. The combined efforts of this 
project are intended to fulfill the Department of Land Conservation and Development’s (DLCD) Goal 9 
requirement that cities have an inventory of employment lands available to realize economic growth 
opportunities. This report is organized by topic: 

• I. Executive Summary & Report Introduction 
• II. Land Usage & Supply Assessment 
• III. Socioeconomic Conditions 
• IV. Employment Forecast & Future Land Use Needs 
• V. Community Engagement Summary 
• VI. Economic Opportunities Assessment 
• Appendices 

Goal 9 Process 
The Goal 9 Economic Opportunities Assessment framework is a multi-stage process that accounts for 
both supply side and demand side estimations, and a forecast for future land-use demand based on 
those calculations. The diagram below explains the various steps involved in this process. These details 
will be sketched out in further detail in Chapters 4 and 6, but an introductory explanation is helpful 
grounding for reading this report.  



 
 
 
 
 

 
4 | P a g e  
 

In its most basic terms, the Goal 9 process accounts for supply and demand of land over the next twenty 
years (2023-2043):  

• Supply: the availability of “employment lands” zoned as commercial and industrial in the La 
Grande Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). 

• Demand: land expected to be utilized in the La Grande UGB based on an industry specific 
employment forecast, which accounts for population growth, employment growth, and 
employment density by industry.  

• Gap analysis: putting together existing supply and forecasted demand yields the solution of 
whether La Grande will have an appropriate amount of land available to not stifle economic 
growth in the next 20-years. 

 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
5 | P a g e  
 

2. Land Usage & Supply Assessment  
One of the fundamental objectives of the Goal 9 process is to identify the gap between supply and 
demand for employment lands within the region. The availability of employment lands is underpinned 
by how land is zoned within the community. Our purpose in this report is to present a holistic picture of 
land supply and demand, and to forecast conditions for the next 20-years. La Grande, through a process 
outlined in Oregon’s Administrative Rules, may determine whether and how changes to land use policy 
and UGB boundaries are justifiable based on this explanation.   

Methodology 
As a starting point, our team has presented the underlying zoning and land quantities for employment 
lands within La Grande. This includes the entire supply of industrially and commercially zoned lands. A 
list and map of lands zoned for commercial and industrial use can be found on the City’s online map and 
website.1   

Next, our team considered environmental and other development constraints on the city’s industrial 
and commercially zoned parcels.  Development constraints are defined by Oregon’s Administrative Rules 
to include “wetlands, habitat areas, environmental contamination, topography, cultural resources, 
infrastructure deficiencies, parcel fragmentation, natural hazard areas, ownership patterns, and other 
suitability and availability criteria in order to determine the readiness of the current land supply for 
industrial, and other employment development.” (See OAR 660-009-0005)  

Following the assessment of existing constraints, the team then extrapolated the number and location 
of vacant and redevelopable parcels (with their acreage) for employment lands according to zoning 
classifications.   

Pursuant to the definitions found in OAR 660-009-0005, vacant lands are considered those lands greater 
than “one half-acre not currently containing permanent buildings or improvement” and those “equal to 
or larger than five acres where less than one half-acre is occupied by permanent buildings or 
improvements.” 

The City has remained consistent with Union County in its count of redevelopable employment lands. 
Both La Grande and Union County have defined redevelopable employment lands as those properties 
where the real market value (RMV) improvements are equal to or less than 40% of total RMV for the 
entire property (inclusive of land and improvement value). This results in narrowing the number of lands 
available for commercial and industrial use. 

  

                                                           
1https://cityoflagrande.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7ccb75d85bc74111a849979be8c189
07  

https://cityoflagrande.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7ccb75d85bc74111a849979be8c18907
https://cityoflagrande.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7ccb75d85bc74111a849979be8c18907


 
 
 
 
 

 
6 | P a g e  
 

Maps 
Figure 1 shows a map of the employment zones in La Grande: the commercial and industrial areas, 
separated into their various districts. The industrial zones are Light Industrial (I-1), Heavy Industrial (I-2), 
and Business Park (BP). The commercial zones are Central Business (CB), General Commercial (GC), 
Interchange Commercial (IC), Residential Professional (R-P), Medical Services (MS), and Public Facilities 
(PF).  

Figure 1: City of La Grande, Employment Lands Zoning  

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
7 | P a g e  
 

Figure 2 shows the constraints to land development in La Grande, such as physical or geographic 
obstacles. Constrained land is not a part of the employment lands inventory, so determining the 
constraints is crucial to establishing the supply of employment lands.  

Figure 2: City of La Grande, Employment Lands Constraints 

 
Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

Taking constraints into account, Figures 3-7 show the vacant and redevelopable commercial, and 
industrially zoned lands in La Grande.  

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
8 | P a g e  
 

Figure 3: City of La Grande Employment Lands Inventory, All Employment Zones 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

Figure 4: City of La Grande Employment Lands Inventory, Commercial/Industrial  

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023  



 
 
 
 
 

 
9 | P a g e  
 

Figure 5: City of La Grande Employment Lands Inventory, Large Lots (>10 Acres) 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

Figure 6: City of La Grande Employment Lands Inventory, Medium Lots (2-10 Acres) 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 



 
 
 
 
 

 
10 | P a g e  
 

Figure 7: City of La Grande Employment Lands Inventory, Small Lots (1-2 Acres) 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
11 | P a g e  
 

Employment Lands Inventory  
An inventory of the total employment lands in La Grande has been calculated relying on a combination 
of Union County Assessor’s Tax Lot data and city-specific GIS data for zoning and development 
constraints. Analysis conducted by NPS shows that there is a total of 417 acres of commercial land and 
460 acres of industrial lands (including developed, redevelopable, and vacant parcels) in La Grande.  

As a starting point, our team has presented the underlying zoning and land quantities for employment 
lands within La Grande. We have also extrapolated from these maps the number of vacant and 
redevelopable parcels with their acreage for employment lands according to zoning.2 Next, our team 
considered environmental and other constraints on industrial and commercially zoned parcels. This 
results in narrowing the number of lands available for commercial and industrial use.  

Table 2: Total Supply of Available Commercial & Industrial Lands in La Grande 
 

---Redevelopable--- -----Vacant----- 
Zone Lots Acres Lots Acres 

Commercial  17 13.3 27 38.9 
Industrial  10 38.4 35 224.3 
Total  26 51.7 62 263.2 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

Table 3: Total Developed Commercial and Industrial Lands in La Grande 
Zone Lots Acres 

Commercial Developed 798 365.1 
Industrial Developed 115 196.9 
Total  913 562.0 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

Table 4: Total Developed Commercial and Industrial Lands in La Grande by Zone 
Zone Lots Acres 

Commercial 798 365.1 
Central Business (CB) 111 13.2 
General Commercial (GC) 519 279.1 
Interchange Commercial (IC) 27 22.5 
Medical Services (MS) 14 15.6 
Residential Professional (R-P) 127 34.7 
Industrial 115 196.9 
Business Park (BP) 7 10.5 
Light Industrial (I-1) 90 45.5 
Heavy Industrial (I-2) 18 140.8 
Total  913 562.0 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 
Figure 8: Acres of Vacant, Redevelopable, and Developed Land in La Grande 

                                                           
2 For reference, Appendix B provides details on the types of businesses permitted by right and by conditional use 
for each district. 



 
 
 
 
 

 
12 | P a g e  
 

 
Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023 

Figure 9 details the data shown in Figure 8 by breaking commercial and industrial acres into their 
respective zoning districts. More information on allowable uses and density standards for the zoning 
districts is located in Appendix B.  

Figure 9: Acres of Vacant, Redevelopable, and Developed Land in La Grande, by Zone 

 
Source: Nexus Planning Services using map layers from La Grande GIS, 2023  

0.00 50.00 100.00 150.00 200.00 250.00 300.00 350.00 400.00

Industrial

Commercial

Vacant Redevelopable Developed

0.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

300.00

350.00

400.00

450.00

GC I-2 I-1 R-P IC MS CB BP

Developed Redevelopable Vacant



 
 
 
 
 

 
13 | P a g e  
 

Parcel Sizes 
The following figures show the number of vacant and redevelopable employment lots by lot size. As 
Figure 10 shows, most of the unconstrained vacant land in La Grande is found in lots two acres or 
smaller. There are eleven lots in the two to ten acres range and four lots above ten acres. La Grande 
does have two lots that are between 75 and 120 acres, both industrial. These particular lots come with 
other development challenges that are addressed in Chapter 6: Economic Opportunities Assessment.   

Figure 10: Number of Vacant Lots in La Grande, by Size 

 Source: Nexus Planning Services using data from La Grande GIS, 2023 

Redevelopable lots are similarly small, but to an even greater extent. All redevelopable lots in La Grande 
are two acres or less, with the exception of one commercial lot that is between two and ten acres, and 
one industrial lot that is over ten acres.   

Figure 11: Number of Redevelopable Lots in La Grande, by Size 

 
Source: Nexus Planning Services using data from La Grande GIS, 2023  

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

>1 - 2 acres 2 - 10 acres 10+ acres

N
um

be
r o

f L
ot

s

Commercial Industrial

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

>1 - 2 acres 2 - 10 acres 10+ acres

N
um

be
r o

f L
ot

s

Commercial Industrial



 
 
 
 
 

 
14 | P a g e  
 

3. Socioeconomic Conditions  
Per requirements of the DLCD’s Goal 9 framework, the consulting team first addresses the broadest 
level economic trends affecting the United States and, to some extent, international issues. From there 
we approach unique aspects to the State of Oregon and finally to La Grande. At certain points we also 
touch on relevant trends in other neighboring counties in Eastern Oregon (Baker, Grant, Harney, 
Malheur, Morrow, Umatilla, and Wallowa). At each stage, our focus shifts to particular factors affecting 
competitiveness and economic opportunities in La Grande.  

National Economic Overview 
Labor Force Participation, Employment & Unemployment 
Employment at the national level saw a steady incline from 2010 until 2020, where it experienced a 
steep decrease due COVID-induced stay-at-home orders. There was a loss of 9.4 million non-farm jobs in 
2020, with the largest impact occurring in industries that necessitate in-person interaction, especially 
tourism and hospitality.3 The recovery for the overall employment level was swift, however, with certain 
industries reaching and even exceeding their pre-pandemic levels in 2021. 

Figure 12: National Civilian Employment, 2010-2022 

 
Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics  

The story for national labor force participation is different, having declined slightly since 2010 (see 
Figure 13). This decline can partly be explained by a shift in demographics. A larger share of Americans 
are now reaching retirement age, which means that older workers make up a larger share of the 

                                                           
3 “COVID-19 ends longest employment recovery and expansion in CES history, causing unprecedented job losses in 
2020”, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 
https://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2021/article/covid-19-ends-longest-employment-expansion-in-ces-history.htm 
 

120,000

125,000

130,000

135,000

140,000

145,000

150,000

155,000

160,000

165,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

To
ta

l E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t i
n 

th
ou

sa
nd

s

https://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2021/article/covid-19-ends-longest-employment-expansion-in-ces-history.htm


 
 
 
 
 

 
15 | P a g e  
 

population than they did before.4 As these workers gradually leave the labor force, the labor force 
participation rate shrinks. Though workers aged 25-54 have a high labor force participation rate, it has 
not been enough to offset the negative effects inflicted by COVID, given it continues to hover below pre-
pandemic levels. The trend for the unemployment rate, however, is more positive at the national level, 
showing a steady decline since 2010 and strong post-COVID recovery — reaching pre-pandemic levels in 
2022.5 

Figure 13: National Labor Force Participation Rate, Seasonally Adjusted, 2010-2022 

Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022 

Figure 14: National Unemployment Rate, Seasonally Adjusted, 2010-2022 

 
Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022 

                                                           
4 Kreuger, “Where have all the workers gone? An inquiry into the decline of the US labor force participation rate”, 
2017. 
5 “The Employment Situation in July”, The White House, 2022. 
https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2022/08/05/the-employment-situation-in-july-2/ 
 

57.0%

58.0%

59.0%

60.0%

61.0%

62.0%

63.0%

64.0%

65.0%

66.0%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2022/08/05/the-employment-situation-in-july-2/


 
 
 
 
 

 
16 | P a g e  
 

Inflation 
Inflation is always a factor in the national and international economy, but it is currently playing an 
outsized role in economic behaviors and expectations. It is important to first define what inflation 
consists of and the ways it may affect the economy. Inflation is a general increase in the overall price of 
goods and services in the economy.6 A more colloquial definition is “too many dollars chasing too few 
goods.” Rises in the inflation rate can be spurred on by the Federal Reserve (the Fed) setting interest 
rates that are too low or by increasing the money supply too rapidly. Other factors may also apply an 
upward pressure on prices, such as demand exceeding supply for certain goods, or an increase in the 
costs of production, such as those associated with supply chain interruptions.  

There are various versions of inflation which are used by economists and journalists alike. Without 
getting too far into the details on these various metrics, as of April 2023, 12-month change inflation is 
4.9% using the Consumer Price Index (CPI), and 4.4% using Personal Consumption Expenditures (PCE).7 
The Fed is actively managing inflation with adjustments to the federal funds rate. In May 2023, the Fed 
announced that they were raising the federal funds rate from 5% to 5.25%. At the same time, they also 
raised the primary credit rate (discount rate) from 5% to 5.25%.8 All told, the Fed anticipates inflation 
being several points above average for the majority of 2023. If they achieve their aims, however, they 
anticipate bringing inflation back to the traditional sub-3.0% level by 2024.  

These factors are particularly important for residents of Union County, which tends to be lower income 
than other areas of the state. Lower-income households are more affected by inflation simply because 
they spend a higher proportion of their income on consumption (as opposed to investment or savings). 
The longer-term inflation anticipated by the Fed will put a damper on investment and spending in Union 
County, which most economists expect to be lifted by 2024.  

International Issues & Supply Chain 
While supply chain and international issues can seem far afield, global, and national economic problems 
do affect day-to-day life in La Grande. Supply chain issues can cause higher costs, which are passed on to 
customers. Furthermore, industries like manufacturing suffer when international exports become more 
expensive. As such, these issues warrant mention in this report.  

Towards the end of 2019 and into 2020, the U.S. struggled in trade due to unprecedented social 
restrictions, changes or losses in the workforce, and disruptions in the supply chain that created a 
worldwide recession with hindered trade flows. U.S. imports at this time dropped from $3 trillion to $2.9 
trillion, and exports fell from $2.5 trillion to $2.4 trillion. As shown in Figure 15, there was a major 
decline seen in the second quarter of 2020. Imports fell to $2.3 trillion, and exports to $1.8 trillion. This 
was the largest drop on record of exports in the U.S., which lead to the highest trade deficit in the last 
                                                           
6 The Federal Reserve, “What is inflation and how does the Federal Reserve evaluate changes in the rate of 
inflation?” https://www.federalreserve.gov/faqs/economy_14419.htm 
7 CPI uses a “basket of goods” approach which is more subject to price spikes. Arguably the PCE method is more 
accurate when projecting specific households’ budgets as it permits the possibility substitutionary goods to 
manage household cost increase.    
8 The Federal Reserve, “Minutes of the Board’s discount rate meetings from April 10 through May 3, 2023”, 
https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/files/monetary20230530a1.pdf 

https://www.federalreserve.gov/faqs/economy_14419.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/files/monetary20230530a1.pdf


 
 
 
 
 

 
17 | P a g e  
 

12 years. Going into 2021, both imports and exports are rising exponentially, and surpassing 2019 
numbers by the second quarter.  

U.S. imports and exports can be impacted positively or negatively when the dollar’s exchange rate 
increases or decreases. Some examples of this may be how imports become more expensive, or how 
exports become less expensive to other countries when the dollar’s exchange rate decreases. The 
dollar’s exchange rate decreases when the U.S. experiences inflation. Currently, the U.S. is experiencing 
inflation as the CPI is 4.9% higher now than it was a year ago, which is a few percentage points higher 
than the Federal Reserve’s target rate. The exchange rate is how much one country’s currency is worth 
relative to another country’s currency. Inflation in the U.S. impacts how much the dollar is worth 
relative to other countries’ currencies by making the dollar less valuable. Inflation has caused the 
dollar’s exchange rate to decrease, directly impacting imports by making them more expensive. The U.S. 
must spend more in order to export goods from other countries. Inflation levels above the Federal 
Reserve’s target rate are likely to persist into 2024 at least, due to the Federal Reserve’s commitment to 
gradual interest rate increases to avoid recession. 

Figure 15: Prices of Imports & Exports of Goods and Services in U.S. in the Billions, Seasonally Adjusted 
Annual Rate, 2010-2022 

Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 

When exchange rates increase or decrease, specific industries will be impacted, such as manufacturing 
and retail trade. The largest industry of employment for Union County is health care & social assistance, 
followed by manufacturing and retail trade. Both manufacturing and retail trade will be negatively 
impacted by the change in the dollar’s exchange rate. The dollar is becoming less valuable, thus 
importing will become more expensive for firms to purchase needed components from other countries. 
Due to the changes in the exchange rate, consumers in Union County will likely be impacted by 
experiencing higher prices from firms, in industries such as manufacturing and retail trade. 

$0

$500

$1,000

$1,500

$2,000

$2,500

$3,000

$3,500

$4,000

$4,500

Bi
lli

on
s o

f D
ol

la
rs

Exports Imports



 
 
 
 
 

 
18 | P a g e  
 

In more recent times, there have been positive improvements to ongoing supply chain challenges, such 
as progress in available freight capacity, decline in freight costs, softening in commodity prices, 
stabilized port operations, and container costs that are catching up to pre-pandemic levels. However, 
challenges are ongoing such as some seen in China with the rise of COVID-19 cases causing 
manufacturing plants to be temporarily shut down, and the continuing demand of crude oil.9 Issues with 
crude oil are also seen between The European Union and Russia, who are anticipated to ban crude 
imports to Russia in retaliation to the invasion of Ukraine (2022-present, as of mid-2023). The United 
States, along with the London Metal Exchange (LME), are still in process of evaluating the ban on 
Russian aluminum, which has significant impacts on global prices and availability. The U.S.’s East and 
Gulf Coast ports have recently expanded their lead in terms of share over the West Coast, which has 
been highly impacted by the decline in container imports from China. The West Coast ports’ share of 
imports have dropped to 36.4% from the previous 37.0%.10 Global supply chain issues such as these, 
though seemingly remote from La Grande, nevertheless exert an influence on employment and earnings 
in the area.  

Recession Expectations 
The COVID-19 pandemic and the associated safety measures taken to help prevent the spread of the 
virus caused a severe reduction in economic activity in 2020 and 2021. In consequence, a combination 
of supply chain issues, economic relief measures, and pent-up consumer demand spurred inflation rates 
that have since hit 40-year highs in 2022.11 This, in turn, has led the Fed to raise interest rates and to 
sustain those hikes — raising rates seven times in 2022. As of June 1, rates have been raised three times 
in 2023. Many economists anticipate a mild recession to begin later in 2023. In February 2023, the 
National Association for Business Economics released a survey for economists regarding their recession 
expectations, and the majority of respondents envisioned a recession sometime in 2023. The survey 
shows that 21% of respondents predict that recession to begin in the July-September quarter. However, 
economic indicators such as inflation, the labor market, and interest rates are all sending different 
signals, causing opinions to range from recession to robust growth in the economy. Historically, the 
Federal Reserve has never managed to avoid recession when raising interest rates, as it has continued to 
do through May of 2023.12 

Political & Regulatory Landscape 
Land Use & DLCD Priorities 
The DLCD Land Use Planning has established 19 main planning goals for the State of Oregon. Each of the 
19 goals address the process of local land use planning, steer the State’s resource prevention, provides 

                                                           
9 Krimil, “Updated 11.22.2022 - Impacts on Global Supply Chain Logistics,” Border States News, November 21, 
2022, https://content.borderstates.com/news/coronavirus-impacts-on-global-supply-chain/. 
10 Schuler, Mike. “Falling U.S. Container Imports from China Hit West Coast Ports in October -Report.” Captain, 
November 7, 2022. https://gcaptain.com/falling-u-s-imports-from-china-hits-west-coast-container-ports-in-
october-report/. 
11 Alyssa Fowers, “What is causing inflation: The factors driving prices high each month”, The Washington Post, 
2022. https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2022/07/26/inflation-causes/ 
12 CBS News, “U.S. recession expected to start later than previously predicted,” 
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/us-recession-nabe-forecast-survey-business-economists-push-back/ 

https://content.borderstates.com/news/coronavirus-impacts-on-global-supply-chain/
https://gcaptain.com/falling-u-s-imports-from-china-hits-west-coast-container-ports-in-october-report/
https://gcaptain.com/falling-u-s-imports-from-china-hits-west-coast-container-ports-in-october-report/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2022/07/26/inflation-causes/
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/us-recession-nabe-forecast-survey-business-economists-push-back/


 
 
 
 
 

 
19 | P a g e  
 

guidance in urban development, and directs cities and counties that may need to plan for coastal assets. 
All of which are addressed through local comprehensive plans and reports and must be consistent with 
the outlined Planning Goals. Implementation of zoning code changes and adoptions must be consistent 
with each as well.  Cities and counties are obliged to submit land use assessments to the DLCD. 

Specific goals such as Goal 3 (Agricultural Lands), Goal 4 (Forest Lands), Goal 9 (Economic Development), 
Goal 14 (Urbanization) narrow in on specific land types, current use, potential use, and future strategies 
and targets for each.  

Regional Economic Overview 
Trends in Employment, Income and Business Establishments 
While growth in employment in Union County is the lowest of all areas of comparison, it has increased 
over the past decade. Union County has not shown negative growth in employment since 2013, despite 
the pandemic dip in 2020. Furthermore, 2021 showed a promising return towards pre-pandemic trends.  

Figure 16: Cumulative Growth in Employment, 2010-2021 

Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages, 2021 

Wage growth trends in Union County are comparable to those of the US. Given its more rural location, it 
is not surprising that the County has a lower growth rate for wages than the rest of the state.  

Figure 17: Cumulative Growth in Wages, 2010-2021 

5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Union County Oregon Idaho California Washington US



 
 
 
 
 

 
20 | P a g e  
 

Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages, 2021 

The growth in establishments—meaning physical locations such as stores, factories, and offices—tells a 
different story. Not only does Union County keep pace with US trends, but it also exceeds certain areas 
in growth. Furthermore, 2020 did not see a significant decrease in growth of establishments. 

Figure 18: Cumulative Growth in Establishments, 2010-2021 

Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages, 2021 

Labor force participation has been on a decline across the Unites States for over twenty years now. 
Oregon has been hit harder than some other states, with over a 5% decrease in the past twenty years.  

Figure 19: Labor Force Participation over Time, 2000-2022 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Union County Oregon Idaho California Washington US

10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Union County Oregon Idaho California Washington US



 
 
 
 
 

 
21 | P a g e  
 

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022 

The unemployment rate has been more turbulent. Typically, unemployment rates spike following 
recessions, as shown in 2009 in Figure 20. While there was a spike in unemployment in 2020, 2022 
ushered in some of Oregon’s lowest unemployment rates in the past two decades. 

Figure 20: Unemployment Rate (Annual Average) over Time, 2000-2022 

 
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022 

Migration & Population Change 
While Union County has not quite kept pace with the state of Oregon in terms of growth, it has grown 
steadily over the past decade. There was a slight population downturn in 2020, in line with the slight 
leveling in population growth that happened across the state of Oregon during the pandemic years.  

56%

58%

60%

62%

64%

66%

68%

70%

72%

Oregon California Idaho Washington US

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

Oregon California Idaho Washington US



 
 
 
 
 

 
22 | P a g e  
 

Figure 21: State and Regional Population Change, 2010-2021 

Source: US Census Bureau, 2021 

Interestingly, except for 2016 and 2017, most of Oregon’s growth in the past decade was driven by 
births and not migration.  

Figure 22: Sources of Population Change in Oregon, 2010-2021 

Source: US Census Bureau, Population and Housing Unit Estimates, 2021 

  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020

Oregon Washington Idaho California Union County

(60,000)

(40,000)

(20,000)

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Births Deaths Net Migration



 
 
 
 
 

 
23 | P a g e  
 

Figure 23: Sources of Population Change in Union County, 2010-2021 

Source: US Census Bureau, Population and Housing Unit Estimates, 2021 

Figure 24 presents data from Unacast, a technology company that tracks the movement of devices (i.e., 
mobile phones, tablets, etc.) These data are imperfect and experimental, but they do have the 
advantage of telling the right-now story without the lag effect that comes with data from the US 
government. The Unacast data are also cleaned and normalized such that short-term relocations 
(vacations, etc.) are not counted as migratory changes. 

Figure 24: Union County Monthly Migration, 2019-2022

 
Source: Unacast Monthly Migration Trend Data, 2022 

(400)

(300)

(200)

(100)

0

100

200

300

400

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Births Deaths Net Migration

(200)

(100)

0

100

200

300

400

500

Net Flow Inflow Outflow



 
 
 
 
 

 
24 | P a g e  
 

People are mostly moving into Union County from the Northwestern United States, Oregon, California, 
and Washington. The two notable exceptions are Montgomery County, Texas (just outside of Houston) 
and Onondaga County, NY (home to Syracuse). Those moving out of Union County are either: moving in-
state; following national trends and moving north and east to Idaho, Washington, and Montana; or 
moving to warmer climates like California, Hawaii, and Florida. Notably, the two largest destinations for 
those moving out of La Grande are bigger cities in the Inland Northwest, Boise (Ada County) and 
Missoula (Missoula County).  

Table 5: Union County Top In & Out Migration Counties, 2016-2020 
Posi�ve Net Migra�on From Nega�ve Net Migra�on to 

Uma�lla County, OR +194 Ada County, ID (350) 
Sonoma County, CA +78 Missoula County, MT (179) 
Los Angeles County, CA +71 Baker County, OR (142) 
Montgomery County, TX +56 Palm Beach County, FL (111) 
Shasta County, CA +49 Gooding County, ID (63) 
Coos County, OR +46 Yuba County, CA (48) 
Grant County, WA +45 Klamath County, OR (40) 
Lane County, OR +41 Spokane County, WA (40) 
Yamhill County, OR +41 Benton County, WA (33) 
Onondaga County, NY +39 Hawaii County, HI (27) 

Source: United States Census Flow Mapper, 2016-2020 



 
 
 
 
 

 
25 | P a g e  
 

Figure 25: Union County In & Out Migration Trends

Source: United States Census Flow Mapper, 2016-2020 

Union County & La Grande Socioeconomic Trends 
Population Overview 
The population overviews and calculations utilized by the consulting team in this study are from a 
combination of sources including the federal government, state government, and local sources. All users 
of this information should be aware that no single data source is perfectly accurate, especially in areas 
of smaller populations. The solution for this problem is to present these data sources in layers, with the 
awareness that they may not always concur with one another. Though we make customized 
adjustments to these estimates when producing our industrial lands analysis, it is important to see the 
unmodified data straight from the source before making such adjustments.  



 
 
 
 
 

 
26 | P a g e  
 

While the population of La Grande did not change significantly between 2010 and 2022, it did see some 
comparable rates of average annual growth to Union County and the state (0.2%). However, in the long 
term, La Grande’s average annual growth rate is projected to be slightly higher (0.3%) — surpassing the 
county rate, while trailing the growth rates at the state and national levels over the next 28 years. 

Figure 26: Population Forecast Comparison 

Source: Points Consulting using US Census Bureau, Esri Business Analyst, and PSU, 2023 

Figure 27: La Grande Historic Population Change, 2010-2021 

Source: US Census Bureau, 2021 

 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

2000 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021 2023 2033 2043

La Grande

Union County

La Grande PC Forecast

La Grande Safe Harbor
Forecast

Union County PC Forecast

Union County Safe Harbor
Forecast

11,000

13,000

15,000

17,000

19,000

21,000

23,000

25,000

27,000

29,000

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Union County La Grande



 
 
 
 
 

 
27 | P a g e  
 

Table 6: Population Change 2010-2021 
Area 2010 Pop 2022 Pop 2050 Fore-

casted Pop 
’10-’22 
Change 

’10-’22 % 
CAGR13 

’22-‘50 
Change 

’22-’50 % 
CAGR 

La Grande 13,095 13,404 14,671 309 0.2% 1,267 0.3% 

Union County 25,748 26,673 27,866 925 0.2% 1,193 0.2% 
Oregon 3.8M 4.3M 5.6M 0.5M 0.2% 1.3M 0.9% 
US 308.7M 334.0M 389.0M 25.3M 0.3% 55M 0.5% 
Source: Portland State University, Population Research Center, 2021 

Table 7: Population Growth Over Time 
Region CAGR Past 9 

Years 
CAGR Past 4 

Years 
2021 

Popula�on 
CAGR Next 4-

yrs 
CAGR Next 9-

yrs 
La Grande 0.19% 0.41% 13,212 1.73% 0.86% 

Union County 0.29% 0.43% 26,255 0.42% 0.30% 
Oregon 1.03% 0.59% 4.3M 1.46% 1.18% 
US 0.70% 0.47% 337.1M 1.87% 1.32% 

Source: Portland State University, Population Research Center, and Oregon Department of Administrative Services 

La Grande has a higher percentage of 15-24 and 25–34 year-olds than any of the other areas of 
comparison, likely due to Eastern Oregon University’s presence in the city. While the under-15 
population is roughly the same as the other areas of comparison, the 35+ year-old population is smaller 
in all categories. The 85+ group, however, is largest in La Grande.  

Figure 28: Population by Age 

Source: ESRI Business Analyst, 2022 

                                                           
13 Note: CAGR stands for Compound Annual Growth Rate, a common way of measuring change over time. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

United States Oregon Union County La Grande

Under 5 years 5 to 9 years 10 to 14 years 15 to 24 years 25 to 34 years 35 to 44 years
45 to 54 years 55 to 64 years 65 to 74 years 75 to 84 years 85 and older



 
 
 
 
 

 
28 | P a g e  
 

La Grande and Union County are majority-white, with the second largest ethnic groups being other races 
and two or more races, respectively. Not much will change with these demographics in Union County in 
the next five years. However, La Grande is projected to see growth in individuals of two or more races.  

Table 8: Race and Ethnicity Comparison, 2022 

Source: ESRI Business Analyst, 2022 

Table 9: Race and Ethnicity Projection, 2027 
Region White Black or 

African 
American 

American 
Indian, 

Alaska Na�ve 

Asian Na�ve 
Hawaiian, 

Other Pacific 
Islanders 

Some 
other 
race 

Two or 
more 
races 

Hispanic 
or La�no 

La Grande 83.0% 0.9% 1.0% 1.1% 3.3% 2.1% 8.5% 6.4% 

Union County 85.6% 0.6% 0.9% 0.8% 2.0% 1.8% 8.2% 5.2% 

Oregon 72.8% 2.0% 1.5% 4.9% 0.5% 6.5% 11.8% 14.2% 

United States 59.5% 12.3% 1.2% 6.4% 0.2% 8.9% 11.5% 19.4% 
Source: Esri Business Analyst, 2022  

Household Characteristics 
Sometimes, the data are not available as specifically as needed. For this section, the consulting team 
used Public Use Microdata Sample (PUMS) data from the American Community Survey to analyze 
household characteristics of the region. Since data was not available for Union County alone, the 
consulting team used data at the most granular level they could source — Umatilla, Union, Baker, and 
Wallowa counties aggregated (the UUWB region). Given the demographic similarities between the 
counties, the data should still lend valuable insights into households in and around Union County.  

The UUWB region shows significant differences in the composition of households between Oregon and 
the US. The UUWB region has a much larger percentage of one and two person households than either 
Oregon or the US. Perhaps the biggest difference is three person households in the region as compared 
to the greater areas. Although, there is still a significantly smaller population of four or more person 
households in the UUWB than in the other areas.  

Figure 29: Composition of Households 

Region White Black or 
African 

American 

American 
Indian and 

Alaskan 
Na�ve 

Asian Na�ve 
Hawaiian 
and Other 

Pacific 
Islander 

Some 
other 
race 

Two or 
more 
races 

Hispanic 
or La�no 

La Grande 83.0% 0.9% 1.0% 1.1% 3.3% 8.1% 2.5% 6.4% 
Union 
County 

85.6% 0.6% 0.9% 0.8% 2.0% 1.8% 8.2% 5.2% 

Oregon 74.3% 2.0% 1.5% 4.7% 0.5% 6.3% 10.8% 14.0% 
United 
States 

61.0% 12.4% 1.1% 6.1% 0.2% 8.6% 10.6% 19.0% 



 
 
 
 
 

 
29 | P a g e  
 

Source: ACS Public Use Microdata Sample (PUMS), U.S. Census Bureau, 2021 

With 11.1% of households without home access to the internet, the UUWB has more access to internet 
than the US average (11.8%), but less access than the state of Oregon (8.8%). Surprisingly, about twice 
as many households have free access to the internet in the UWWB than both the US and Oregon (5.6%).  

Figure 30: Internet Access 

Source: ACS Public Use Microdata Sample (PUMS), U.S. Census Bureau, 2021 

A greater percentage of households in the UUWB receive SNAP benefits than in Oregon and the United 
States. While 17.4% of households are on SNAP in the UUWB, Oregon has 16% and the US, 12.3%.  

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Umatilla, Union,
Baker, Wallowa

Counties

Oregon US

4-or-more-person household

3-person household

2-person household

1-person household

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Umatilla, Union, Baker, Wallowa Counties

Oregon

US

Yes, by paying a cell phone company or Internet service provider

Yes, without paying a cell phone company or Internet service provider

No access to the Internet at this house, apartment, or mobile home



 
 
 
 
 

 
30 | P a g e  
 

Figure 31: SNAP Benefits

 
Source: ACS Public Use Microdata Sample (PUMS), U.S. Census Bureau, 2021 

Employment, Earnings, and Establishment Trends  
A location quotient (LQ) is a ratio that compares the concentration of a specific industry's employment 
in a particular area to the national level. It provides a metric for evaluating the prevalence of jobs in a 
region for a given industry, relative to the same industry across the entire United States (1.0).  

Oregon has a very high concentration of businesses in the agriculture, forestry, and fishing sectors. 
Retail, and accommodation and food services industry concentrations are also higher than the U.S. 
average.  

Table 10: Oregon Employment by Industry 
Sector 2010 Jobs 2021 Jobs %Change 2021 LQ 

Agriculture/Forestry/Fishing 40,887 52,044 27.3% 2.31 
Mining, Quarrying, and Oil and Gas Extrac�on 1,762 1,896 7.6% 0.20 
U�li�es 4,440 4,869 9.7% 0.89 
Construc�on 67,856 112,132 65.2% 0.88 
Manufacturing 163,710 182,884 11.7% 1.04 
Wholesale Trade 72,726 74,917 3.0% 1.04 
Retail Trade 182,072 207,577 14.0% 1.19 
Transporta�on/Warehousing 44,695 70,569 57.9% 0.89 
Informa�on 31,916 37,060 16.1% 0.89 
Finance/Insurance 55,388 56,360 1.8% 0.78 
Real Estate/Rental/Leasing 24,074 28,331 17.7% 1.05 
Professional/Scien�fic/Tech 69,546 103,377 48.6% 0.96 
Management of Companies and Enterprises 34,084 50,911 49.4% 1.00 
Admin/Support/Waste Management 81,687 99,380 21.7% 0.87 

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

Umatilla, Union, Baker, Wallowa
Counties

Oregon US



 
 
 
 
 

 
31 | P a g e  
 

Educa�onal Services 27,421 29,223 6.6% 0.89 
Health Care/Social Assistance 196,112 271,520 38.5% 1.03 
Arts/Entertainment/Recrea�on 21,786 19,939 (8.5%) 0.94 
Accommoda�on/Food Services 135,221 146,048 8.0% 1.09 
Other Services (Excluding Public) 59,998 61,878 3.1% 0.89 

Grand Total 1.3M 1.6M 23.1% - 
Source: Census QWI Explorer, 2022 

Union County follows Oregon in industry concentrations. Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting 
shows an astonishing LQ of 3.0, three times the national average. Like Oregon, it has a slightly high LQ in 
retail. Healthcare also has a slightly higher industry concentration in Union County. However, the high 
concentration in the agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting industry has come at the expense of other 
sectors, as many industry concentrations are well below the U.S. average.  

Table 11: Union County Average Employment by Industry 
Sector 2010 Jobs 2021 Jobs % Change 2021 LQ 

Transporta�on and Warehousing 188 276 46.8% 1.0 
Professional, Scien�fic, and Technical Services 209 298 42.6% 0.3 
Management of Companies and Enterprises 33 45 36.4% 0.0 
Construc�on 461 589 27.8% 0.5 
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hun�ng 290 350 20.7% 3.0 
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 69 80 15.9% 1.4 
Wholesale Trade 218 248 13.8% 1.0 
Health Care and Social Assistance 1457 1633 12.1% 1.6 
Administra�ve and Support and Waste 
Management and Remedia�on Services 

186 207 11.3% 0.8 

Manufacturing 1187 1314 10.7% 1.0 
Accommoda�on and Food Services 816 875 7.2% 0.8 
Retail Trade 1248 1333 6.8% 1.2 
Arts, Entertainment, and Recrea�on 51 50 (2.0%) 1.0 
Finance and Insurance 220 210 (4.5%) 0.7 
Other Services (except Public Administra�on) 307 287 (6.5%) 1.1 
Educa�onal Services 33 29 (12.1%) 0.8 
Informa�on 230 86 (62.6%) 0.5 

Total 7,203 7,910 9.8% -- 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, QWI Explorer 

Unsurprisingly, with Eastern Oregon University’s campus located in La Grande, the educational services 
industry dominates employment in La Grande and Union County. Essential services like healthcare, 
retail, and hospitality and food services also show high employment numbers. However, Union County 
overall has much larger employment in retail than La Grande, employing approximately twice as many 
workers.  Aside from essential services, public administration has high employment in both areas. The 
next tier of employment diverges between Union County and La Grande. While Union County has high 



 
 
 
 
 

 
32 | P a g e  
 

numbers of manufacturing and wholesale trade workers, La Grande has many workers in the 
professional, scientific and tech services, and other services industries.  

Figure 32: Overall Employment by Industry in La Grande and Union County 

Source: Esri Business Analyst, 2022 

 
Table 12: Total Establishments by Industry in Union County, 2021 

 -  500  1,000  1,500  2,000

Management of Companies & Enterprises

Utilities

Mining

Unclassified Establishments

Administrative & Support & Waste…

Arts, Entertainment & Recreation

Finance & Insurance

Real Estate, Rental & Leasing

Information

Transportation & Warehousing

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing & Hunting

Construction

Professional, Scientific & Tech Services

Other Services

Wholesale Trade

Manufacturing

Accommodation & Food Services

Public Administration

Retail Trade

Health Care & Social Assistance

Educational Services

Union County La Grande



 
 
 
 
 

 
33 | P a g e  
 

Industry Title Establishments 
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing, Hun�ng 77 
U�li�es 4 
Construc�on 114 
Manufacturing 32 
Wholesale Trade 31 
Retail Trade 96 
Informa�on 19 
Finance and Insurance 37 
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 21 
Professional, Scien�fic and Technical Services 58 
Management of Companies and Enterprises 4 
Administra�ve, Support and Waste Management 37 
Health Care and Social Assistance 207 
Accommoda�on and Food Service 77 
Other Services 91 

All Industries 1,034 
Source: US Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages 

Union County’s business landscape is mostly comprised of small businesses with fewer than five 
employees. In fact, the percentage of businesses inversely scales with the size of the business. All told, 
78% of businesses in Union County employ fewer than ten employees.  

Figure 33: Establishments by Number of Employees in Union County, 2020 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, County Business Patterns, 2020 

54.4%

23.3%

11.6%
7.9%

1.6% 0.8% 0.4%
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Less than 5
employees

5 to 9
employees

10 to 19
employees

20 to 49
employees

50 to 99
employees

100 to 249
employees

250 to 499
employees



 
 
 
 
 

 
34 | P a g e  
 

Employment & Income in La Grande 
The following series of charts show the trends in employment and income in La Grande since 2015. The 
black bands surrounding the gold trendline represent the margin of error for each annual data point. 
2019 saw a rise in employment in both La Grande and Union County. While the pandemic caused a drop 
in total employment in both areas, Union County as a whole recovered more quickly than La Grande, 
returning to its pre-pandemic trajectory in 2021. La Grande’s total employment has decreased 10% since 
2015, a decrease of about 600 jobs in six years. Conversely, Island City has had an increase of 1.5% in 
total employment over the same period.14 The overall pattern seems to consistently suggest that La 
Grande’s employment is decreasing and Union County’s is increasing.  

Figure 34: Total Employment in La Grande, 2015-2021 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2022 

Figure 35: Total Employment in Union County, 2015-2021 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2022 

                                                           
14 U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey, Table DP03 

 5,000

 5,500

 6,000

 6,500

 7,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

La Grande

 10,000

 10,500

 11,000

 11,500

 12,000

 12,500

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Union County



 
 
 
 
 

 
35 | P a g e  
 

Median household income (MHI) in La Grande and Union County has followed a similar trajectory in the 
period between 2015 and 2021. The drivers behind some of the income increase in La Grande may be 
the services sector and jobs in the information industry. These two sectors experienced increases to 
their average quarterly earnings of over 50% in the period from 2015 to 2021.15 However, Union County 
has, on average, an MHI that is $5,870 higher than La Grande’s MHI, with the MHI in Island City being 
close to $13K higher.16 While MHI in both areas has varied considerably in the past six years, both La 
Grande and Union County had a higher MHI in 2021 than in 2015.  

Figure 36: Median Household Income in La Grande, 2015-2021 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2022 

Figure 37: Median Household Income in Union County, 2015-2021 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2022 

                                                           
15 PC Calculation based on Esri Business Analyst data (2021), and U.S. Census Bureau QWI (2021). 
16 U.S. Census Bureau, Ibid. 

$25,000
$30,000
$35,000
$40,000
$45,000
$50,000
$55,000
$60,000
$65,000
$70,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

La Grande

$25,000
$30,000
$35,000
$40,000
$45,000
$50,000
$55,000
$60,000
$65,000
$70,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Union County



 
 
 
 
 

 
36 | P a g e  
 

The distribution of workers in each age group is roughly the same in Union County and La Grande. 
Where the real difference emerges is in the wages earned. There are proportionally more workers in the 
higher earnings range in Union County than there are in La Grande. While 40% of workers in Union 
County make more than $3,333 a month, that group is 36% percent of the workforce in La Grande. This 
also translates to a higher percentage of middle and lower-wage workers in La Grande than in Union 
County. While 4% is not a large gap, it is interesting to note that the highest wages in Union County are 
not being earned in La Grande, the county seat. Educational attainment is essentially the same between 
La Grande and Union County.  

Figure 38: Jobs by Worker Age and Location, 2019 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Application and LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics (Beginning of Quarter 
Employment, 2nd Quarter of 2002-2019).  

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

29 or younger 30-54 55 or older

N
um

be
r o

f W
or

ke
rs

La Grande Union County



 
 
 
 
 

 
37 | P a g e  
 

Figure 39: Jobs by Earnings and Location, 2019

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Application and LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics (Beginning of Quarter 
Employment, 2nd Quarter of 2002-2019).  

Figure 40: Jobs by Worker Educational Attainment & Location, 2019 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Application and LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics (Beginning of Quarter 
Employment, 2nd Quarter of 2002-2019).  

  

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

$1,250 per month or less $1,250 to $3,333 per month More than $3,333 per month

N
um

be
r o

f W
or

ke
rs

La Grande Union County

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Less than high school High school or
equivalent, no college

Some college or
Associate degree

Bachelor's degree or
advanced degree

N
um

be
r o

f W
or

ke
rs

La Grande Union County



 
 
 
 
 

 
38 | P a g e  
 

Commuter & Transportation Data 
La Grande is a transportation hub with an interstate, several major highways, and railroad lines going 
through the city.  This is an important consideration as goods need to move in and out on those routes. 
Traffic flows can show the levels of activity on commercial corridors and how those levels change over 
time. Unfortunately, railroad transportation data are not available for the lines that go through La 
Grande. However, the Oregon Traffic Monitoring System does provide data on traffic through the city.  

The consulting team identified five key areas of interest in and around La Grande for consideration of 
traffic flow, as shown in Figure 41.   

Figure 41: Key Locations of Traffic Flow 

Source: Points Consulting using ESRI Business Analyst and Oregon Traffic Monitoring System, 2022 

Figure 42 shows annual average daily traffic (AADT) in the key locations from 2008 to 2021. Site 1, 
roughly halfway between the city centers of La Grande and Island City, consistently has the most daily 
traffic over time.  However, in the past five years, Site 2 downtown has decreased in traffic, while site 3 
along I-84 has increased. Sites 4 and 5 have maintained a low, steady flow of traffic over the years.  

Site 5 

Site 1 

Site 2 

Site 3 

Site 4 



 
 
 
 
 

 
39 | P a g e  
 

Figure 42: AADT Over Time, Key Locations 

Source: Oregon Traffic Monitoring System, 2022 

About half the people who work in La Grande live in La Grande or Island City. The same can be said for 
people who live in La Grande, about half work in town or in Island City. Most people who live in La 
Grande and out-commute for work are commuting to the nearest neighboring cities of notable size: 
Baker, Hermiston, and Enterprise. However, a few are working in Portland, perhaps remotely. Workers 
who commute into La Grande are all living in neighboring areas, with the notable exception of Bend, 
again, likely remote workers.  

Table 13: Where Workers Live Who are Employed in La Grande 
City/Place Count Share 

La Grande, OR 1,964 43.8% 
Island City, OR 183 4.1% 
Union city, OR 153 3.4% 
Pendleton, OR 125 2.8% 
Baker City, OR 114 2.5% 
Elgin, OR 105 2.3% 
Cove, OR 52 1.2% 
Hermiston, OR 46 1.0% 
North Powder, OR 32 0.7% 
Bend, OR 28 0.6% 
All Other Locations 1,681 37.5% 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, On-the-Map, 2020 

Table 14: Where Workers are Employed who Live in La Grande 
City/Place Count Share 

La Grande, OR 1,964 46.7% 
Island City, OR 196 4.7% 
Baker City, OR 102 2.4% 
Pendleton, OR 99 2.4% 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

A
A

D
T

Site 1 Site 2 Site 3 Site 4 Site 5



 
 
 
 
 

 
40 | P a g e  
 

Portland, OR 98 2.3% 
Hermiston, OR 64 1.5% 
Enterprise, OR 44 1.0% 
Ontario, OR 32 0.8% 
Salem, OR 31 0.7% 
Richland, WA 30 0.7% 
All Other Loca�ons 1,547 36.8% 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, On-the-Map, 2020 

All told, there are about 2,000 workers living and working in La Grande, with 2,500 commuting in, and 
2,200 commuting out of La Grande.  

Figure 43: Commuter Inflow and Outflow from La Grande 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, On-the-Map, 2020 

As noted previously, Figure 44 shows that those who are commuting out of La Grande for work are 
commuting to the North and East, primarily.  

Figure 44: Distance and Direction of Commute for Workers in La Grande

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, On-the-Map, 2020  

N

NE

E

SES

SW

W

NW

<10 mi 10 to 24 mi 25 to 50 mi >50 mi

300

500

2,519 2,243 1,964 
Living & Working 

In-commuters Out-commuters 



 
 
 
 
 

 
41 | P a g e  
 

4. Employment Forecast & Future Land Use Needs 
Determining employment land requirements by community depends on first determining the number of 
jobs that exist in each community. Unlike some other forms of employment statistics, this employment 
forecast considers jobs by “place of work” rather than by “place of residence.” In other words, the actual 
number of employed persons in La Grande is higher than the numbers shown in this section. In the long-
run, enabling more workers to both live and work within the same community (rather than out-
commute) is one of the probable and desirable outcomes from economic development. 

The consulting team followed DLCD guidance related to Goal 9 employment forecasting for La Grande, 
which includes the option for a “safe harbor” forecast method and a custom forecast option. The safe 
harbor method involves extrapolating the Employment Department’s 10-year regional forecast for the 
Eastern Six counties (Baker, Grant, Harney, Malheur, Union, and Wallowa Counties) and applying it to La 
Grande. On the other hand, our custom forecast method relies on changes to employment over the past 
30-years and shifts in the population-to-employment ratio within each community. 

Despite some differences in approach, both methods yielded similar job forecasts for 2033. However, 
when projecting over the next 20 years, the safe harbor method predicts an increase of 765 jobs, while 
our custom forecast results in a gain of 472 jobs. Notably, PSU’s June 2023 population forecasts for 
Union County indicated a swifter growth rate for the City of La Grande within the projection period, 
contributing to the higher numbers in the safe harbor forecast for 2043. Consequently, the variance 
between these two projections provides us with a low-end and high-end estimate for the growth 
potential in La Grande. The charts and tables below primarily show the data from the safe harbor 
projection. 

Employment Forecast 
Tables 15-16 and Figures 45-46 illustrate the overall job growth rate, as well as the change in 
employment over time by industry. The forecasts carried out using the state’s safe harbor method show 
a steady increase in employment over the next 20 years for the City of La Grande. Projections show a 
6.7% increase over the next ten years for total non-farm employment, and a 12.2% increase over the 
next twenty years, for a total gain of 765 jobs. 

The industry that projections show is going to grow the most in terms of raw numbers over the next 20 
years is the services sector, however wholesale trade will experience the largest percentage increase, 
with a gain of 73.5%. Services are industries that render services rather than products (such as 
insurance, auto repair, etc.). Wholesale trade includes businesses that hold goods in warehouses that 
are ultimately shipped to consumers or retail outlets. On the other end of the scale, the finance and 
insurance, and real estate sectors will add the smallest number of total jobs until 2043 — even slightly 
decreasing in 2033 — and the services industry will have the lowest percentage growth rate, with an 
increase of 7.4%. 

  

Robert A. Strope
It would be helpful to have more detail regarding this piece.  What are some of our current businesses that fall under this category and why do they think we will get this big jump?



 
 
 
 
 

 
42 | P a g e  
 

Figure 45: Total Non-Farm Employment Forecast for the City of La Grande 

Source: Points Consulting using State of Oregon Employment Department, and PSU, 2023 

Figure 46: La Grande Employment Forecast by Category, 2023-2043 

Source: Points Consulting using State of Oregon Employment Department, and PSU, 2023 

Table 15: Numerical Change in Employment Comparison Between Safe Harbor and 10-year Forecast, 
2023-2033 

 
Safe Harbor Forecast Method Points Consulting Forecast 

Method 
Category 10-yr change 20-yr change 10-yr change 20-yr change 

Construction & Mining 58 64 35 39 
Mfg. 47 66 41 42 
Transport., Com. & Utilities 28 128 68 79 
Wholesale Trade 4 64 34 39 

7,036 

6,693 

6,271 

5,800 6,000 6,200 6,400 6,600 6,800 7,000 7,200

La Grande

2023 2033 2043

0
500

1,000
1,500
2,000
2,500
3,000
3,500
4,000
4,500
5,000
5,500

2023 2033 2043

Commercial & Service Industrial Institutional/Government



 
 
 
 
 

 
43 | P a g e  
 

Retail Trade 31 64 33 40 
Finance, Insurance, Real Estate (FIRE) (5) 63 33 39 

Services 250 253 146 156 
Industrial Subtotal 136 321 178 199 
Commercial & Service Subtotal 276 381 211 234 
Government 11 63 33 39 
Grand Total 423 765 422 472 

Source: Points Consulting using State of Oregon Employment Department, PSU, US Census Bureau, and Esri Business Analyst, 
2023 

Table 16: 20-Year Safe Harbor Forecast for La Grande 
Category Current 

Employment 
(2023) 

Expected 
Employment 

(2033) 

Percent 
Growth (10-

Years) 

Expected 
Employment 

(2043) 

Percent 
Growth (20-

Years) 
Construction & 
Mining 

329 387 17.5% 393 19.3% 

Manufacturing 755 802 6.2% 821 8.8% 
Transportation, 
Com. & Utilities 

378 405 7.3% 505 33.8% 

Wholesale Trade 87 90 4.2% 150 73.5% 
Retail Trade 736 767 4.2% 800 8.7% 
Finance, Insurance, 
Real Estate (FIRE) 

206 201 (2.3%) 269 30.9% 

Services 3,445 3,695 7.3% 3,699 7.4% 
Industrial Subtotal 1,549 1,684 8.8% 1,870 20.7% 
Commercial & 
Service Subtotal 

4,387 4,662 6.3% 4,768 8.7% 

Government 335 347 3.3% 399 18.9% 
Grand Total 6,271 6,693 6.7% 7,036 12.2% 

Source: Points Consulting using State of Oregon Employment Department, and PSU, 2023 

Employment Lands Forecast 
Job growth is the primary driver of land demand. Therefore, given the positive jobs outlook for the City 
of La Grande, we project an increase in the demand for land for both industrial and commercial 
purposes. Based on current observed statistics and published metrics in other eastern Oregon Goal 9 
studies, the land demand forecast for La Grande in 2043 is approximately 58.9 acres, with around 30.7 
acres for industrial uses and 28.2 acres for commercial uses.  

Each estimate of land demand shown in Table 17 was adjusted based on existing supply, the 
employment forecast, and a real estate absorption factor that is encouraged by DLCD guidance. The 
consulting team also included a 20% public lands adjustment, which accounts for roadways, easements 
and rights-of-way that would be built into currently vacant and redeveloped parcels once they are 
developed, based on values observed in other approved DLCD reports. 



 
 
 
 
 

 
44 | P a g e  
 

Table 17: Employment Lands Forecast for La Grande (2033, 2043) 
   

2033 
  

Land Use Emp/ Acre 
(Current) 

Forecasted New 
Emp. 

Public Lands 
Adj. 

Real Estate 
Vacancy 

Land Demand 
(Net Acres) 

Industrial Acres 9 136 20% 5% 12.9 
Commercial 

 
13 287 20% 5% 18.2  

  2043 
  

Land Use Emp/ Acre 
(Current) 

Forecasted New 
Emp. 

Public Lands 
Adj. 

Real Estate 
Vacancy 

Land Demand 
(Net Acres) 

Industrial Acres 9 321 20% 5% 30.7 
Commercial 

 
13 444 20% 5% 28.2 

Source: Points Consulting, 2023 

Future Land Use Conclusions 
There is more to the consideration of land demand than strictly the gross acreage of employment lands. 
As noted in Chapter 2, the majority of redevelopable and vacant lands are very small. The three 
industrial lots over 20-acres in size are effectively unusable in the short-term due to land-ownership 
issues. These three lots are also inhibited by a limited use overlay, reserving them for large industrial 
developments; two for a 20+ acre project, and one for a 50+ acre project. 17 Though there are more 
usable commercial lots in the City’s existing inventory, these have also proven to be too small for some 
purposes. The option of combining parcels into larger lots is also not feasible because virtually all lots 
are privately owned and separated by existing roadways.  

As summarized in the Land Availability Limitations section later in Chapter 5, the number of lost 
economic development opportunities for the City in the past ten years is further empirical evidence that 
the City is already constrained, even prior to accounting for the next twenty-years of job growth. Based 
on common needs for industrial-type businesses, the consulting team recommends adding an additional 
90-acres of industrial land to the City’s inventory. On the commercial side, in-fill opportunities are still 
present in certain locations, but to provide space for certain types of businesses that have already 
inquired into La Grande and landed elsewhere, more capacity is required on this front also. PC 
recommends an additional 25-acres. This would provide available space for larger scale commercial 
businesses such as big-box stores, truck-stops, and chain hotels. Adding this capacity as soon as possible 
would allow La Grande to “catch up” to an equilibrium point with existing demand.  

Including both the catch-up quantities and the forecasted growth we anticipate the demand for 
industrial commercial lands by 2043 to be: +121 acres of industrial land (or a 20% increase in industrial 
lands above existing inventory), and +63 acres of commercial land (a 14% increase). 

Parcel Sizes and Zoning Districts 
For planning purposes, it is helpful for the City to understand how the recommended commercial and 
industrial acreage should be split by zoning district and parcel sizes. The challenge with this task is lining 

                                                           
17 Per La Grand’s Land Development Code, Article 3.11, https://www.cityoflagrande.org/planning-
division/documents-and-reports/pages/land-development-code. 

https://www.cityoflagrande.org/planning-division/documents-and-reports/pages/land-development-code
https://www.cityoflagrande.org/planning-division/documents-and-reports/pages/land-development-code


 
 
 
 
 

 
45 | P a g e  
 

up land use parameters by district with industry sector employment data. Permissible business activities 
by zoning district provide some guidance but they do not align perfectly with standard NAICS-code 
based industries. For example, general industrial manufacturing is permitted by-right in both the I-1 and 
I-2 districts, with suitability determinations left at the discretion of the Planning Commission.18 Hence, 
where PC’s employment forecast in Table 16 provides statistics for activities such as Manufacturing, 
such businesses could locate either in the I-1 or I-2 districts. Additionally, La Grande’s land use zones are 
not highly discriminating on minimum lot sizes by district.19  

Therefore, the best determination of future land use requirements is to be found be found in examining 
density patterns for existing lots, along with typical land intensity patterns for recent business 
expansions and relocations in Eastern Oregon. These factors indicate that business park and light 
industrial businesses (those suitable for I-1) tend to require smaller lots, 2-5 acres, whereas heavy 
industrial businesses (those suitable for I-2) tend to require lots of 20+ acres. Commercial usage is a bit 
more straight-forward as businesses in the typical General Commercial district (GC) require roughly 0.6 
acres per lot, and those in the Interchange Commercial (IC) average closer to 1.5 acres per lot.20 To add 
one further wrinkle to this consideration, the City of La Grande is actively augmenting its zoning code to 
allow for maker-space activities in the downtown corridor between Jefferson St. and Washington St., 
which could result in a new zoning district or an overlay district within the existing GC district.  

Table 18 extrapolates the following findings from these assumptions. The recommended 184 acres could 
result in between 48 and 88 additional lots. In the commercial category, the majority of land should go 
toward lots in the IC or other, as yet to be designated, low-intensity commercial district, resulting in 
between 38 and 22 additional lots. In the industrial category, I-2 is anticipated to capture the majority of 
new lands but, due to size requirements of 20-50 acres/lot, generates just one to three additional lots. 
Light-industrial could require between six and 11 new lots in the range of 4.5 to 7.5 acres. 

Table 18: Required Lot Sizes for Additional Industrial & Commercial Lands 
District Type Acreage 

Range 
Gross 
Acreage 

High-End 
Lots 

Low-End 
Lots 

Business Examples 

General Commercial 
(GC) 

0.5 – 1 15.8 32 16 Finance, Real Estate, & 
Professional 

Interchange 
Commercial (IC) or 
Other Low-Intensity 
Commercial 

1.3 - 2.2 47.4 38 22 
Chain Restaurants and Lodging, 
Strip Malls, and Maker Spaces 

Light Industrial (I-1) 4.5 - 7.5 48.3 11 6 Product Assembly, 
Transporta�on, and 
Construc�on  

Heavy Industrial (I-2) 20 – 50 66.4 3 1 Product Fabrica�on from Raw 
Materials  

                                                           
18 Ibid. See Section 2.2.011 and Section 2.2.012.  
19 Ibid. see Article 5.2 on minimum lot sizes.  
20 Based on land-use patterns from La Grande’s existing developed lots that are appropriately suited for their 
underlying district.  



 
 
 
 
 

 
46 | P a g e  
 

Business Park (BP) 1.5 - 2.5 6.0 4 2 Personal Services, Wholesaling, 
R&D Facili�es, and Recrea�onal 
Facili�es 

Grand Total -- 183.9 88 48  

 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
47 | P a g e  
 

5. Community Engagement Summary  
The consulting team conducted a series of interviews with key stakeholders and community members 
on March 8, 2023. Interviewees included city employees, area realtors, and members of local business 
organizations. From these interviews, several key themes emerged.  

Active and Growing Downtown 
According to participants, La Grand’s downtown is productive and growing. One interviewee said that 
she knows of multiple businesses that want to move downtown and are looking for space. Furthermore, 
multiple historic buildings have been renovated and put to new use in recent years. This is, in part, 
because downtown revitalization had been a big priority for La Grande’s urban renewal goals. 
Downtown also hosts multiple events throughout the year.  

Although there are not many vacancies downtown, participants state that they would like to see more 
retail, entertainment and activities, and restaurant space downtown. Specifically, one participant said 
that there’s a need for a “third space” for people to go that is not work or home. Another participant 
suggested that might be achieved if some of the professional services (insurance, real estate, service 
industries) would move out of the downtown area to create more available real estate.  

Transportation, Manufacturing, Distribution, and Technology 
Given La Grande’s proximity to multiple transportation corridors (I-84, the railroad, and the local 
airport), several interviewees suggested that the city is primed to take advantage of its strong logistical 
location. One participant suggested a shipping hub. Others suggested more generally that larger 
distribution and manufacturing businesses would be an all-around good fit for La Grande. On the flip 
side, several participants said they would like to see growth in the tech sector, an area in which La 
Grande has not seen much development up to this point. Overall, shortages of industrial space came up 
frequently in the team’s interviews.  

Labor Shortages 
Labor shortages in La Grande were also discussed in multiple interviews. A variety of reasons were 
offered up for the shortages: lack of daycare, lack of housing, and an overall lack of qualified workers. 
One participant suggested a trade school might help funnel more young people into the workforce. 
Another participant said that, although Eastern Oregon University is creating qualified workers, the 
students don’t stay in town after they graduate. Someone else said that they know of businesses that 
would expand if they could, but they don’t have the workers to do so.  

Lack of Suitable Lodging 
Although there are hotels in La Grande, interviewees indicated a gap in the market for mid to high-end 
lodging. Current hotel stock in the area is aging and deteriorating. Upper-level family and mid-level 
corporate travelers do not currently have good lodging options in the city. One participant said that out-
of-town sports teams traveling for tournaments are often accommodated outside of La Grande, which is 
a significant lost opportunity for the area. Another participant mentioned that a hotel space with a 
convention area would be a nice addition to the city, especially given the sporting venues in the area. 



 
 
 
 
 

 
48 | P a g e  
 

Someone also made the point that more hotels would relieve some of the pressure on the short-term 
rental market, which has grown significantly since Covid.  

Missed Opportunity with Highway Traffic 
Several people mentioned that La Grande could do more to pull traffic off the I-84 into the city. Given La 
Grande’s hub-like position, traffic going and coming from destinations like Portland, Boise, Joseph, and 
Pendleton travels right by La Grande. One interviewee mentioned that simple changes like more inviting 
lighting on the exit ramp to La Grande would go a long way to making the city more appealing to 
passers-by. Others mentioned that better hotel accommodations and recognizable restaurants would 
likely draw more travelers into La Grande.  

Housing 
Several participants brought up the issue of housing. One interviewee stated that growth in the business 
sector must also include housing growth. Anecdotally, there seems to be a shortage of housing for 
higher-level professional workers, such as doctors or professors. An interviewee said that the hospital 
and university has had issues recruiting as the people who would otherwise take the job can’t find 
suitable housing for them and their families. “The workforce challenge is downstream from the housing 
challenge.” 

Local Desire for More Restaurants/Retail 
Interviewees indicated that, in their opinion, La Grande locals would like to see more national franchise 
family restaurants and retail stores in their city. Participants mentioned that franchise restaurants such 
as Applebee’s or TGI Fridays are located in neighboring cities and may do well in La Grande. Several 
people mentioned that locals want more retail and grocery options such as Costco, WinCo, Old Navy, 
Marshalls, and TJ Maxx. However, one participant indicated that although locals want those options, 
retail hasn’t thrived in the past in La Grande due to overall low demand.  

 

 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
49 | P a g e  
 

6. Economic Opportunities Assessment 
Economic Development Opportunities 
The economic opportunities of La Grande cannot be derived strictly from quantitative information such 
as past population and employment records. DLCD guidance permits and encourages assessment of 
each communities’ assets, opportunities, and long-term community planning goals. As such, this section 
contains a brief treatment of each community’s perception of its own employment lands situation along 
with real and prospective economic development opportunities.  

Cottage Manufacturing  
Manufacturing businesses in the United States are typically divided between boutique (or cottage) 
manufacturers and multi-national manufacturers. Among the latter, La Grande currently hosts wood 
products company, the Boise Cascade Corporation, and snack food manufacturer, Mondelez 
International. Beyond these, the City is headquarters for many cottage manufacturing businesses 
employing between 5 to 20 workers per establishment. These businesses are spread across a variety of 
subindustries such as outdoor products, cosmetics, and wood products. La Grande’s location on I-84 just 
170 miles from Boise and 260 miles from Portland places it directly in the middle of the supply chain of 
vendors and suppliers between each of these Pacific Northwest industrial centers. Though small scale 
currently, any of these businesses could hit a growth phase which would require both more employees 
and more industrial space.  

La Grande Business & Technology Park   
The La Grande Business & Technology Park sits within the city limits of La Grande, 1.5 miles away from 
exit #263 on I-84. The Park holds 62.4 net acres of flat buildable land, 25 acres of which is certified as 
shovel ready. Lots range in size from one to over eight acres. Park utilities include improved streets, 
curbs and sidewalks, electrical service, telecommunications/fiber, accessible natural gas, and municipal 
water and wastewater.21 

Healthcare Facilities and Treatment 
Grande Ronde Hospital is located in La Grande. The hospital system has a twenty-five bed critical access 
hospital and thirteen outpatient clinics. The hospital employs over 700 people and is in the process of 
expanding their facilities. The new facilities currently in construction will encompass almost 96,000 
square feet of space.22 

Eastern Oregon University  
Eastern Oregon University (EOU) is a public university, established in 1929. According to the university’s 
2021 evaluation, the university is Union County’s third largest employer, with 509 employees. The 

                                                           
21 City of La Grande website, https://www.cityoflagrande.org/economic-development-division/pages/la-grande-
business-park, accessed July 2023.  
22 Grande Ronde Hospital and Clinics website, https://www.grh.org/about-us/, accessed August 2023.  
 

https://www.cityoflagrande.org/economic-development-division/pages/la-grande-business-park
https://www.cityoflagrande.org/economic-development-division/pages/la-grande-business-park
https://www.grh.org/about-us/


 
 
 
 
 

 
50 | P a g e  
 

university pays on average $43,357 per year. In the fall of 2021, 2,825 students were enrolled in EOU. 
Enrollment has declined overall 33.3% in the past decade.23 

La Grande Urban Renewal Agency and TIF District  
La Grande’s Urban Renewal Agency Plan was adopted in 1999 with six goals: revitalize downtown, 
create high quality family wage jobs, retail development, housing, transportation, and community 
facilities. As of 2018, the Urban Renewal Agency (URA) has three established funding programs for 
projects within the urban renewal district, pictured in Figure 47. The Downtown Building Façade Grant 
Program provides grants between $500 to $7,500, with the goal of assisting owners of historic 
downtown buildings with minor exterior renovations. The Call for Project Grants Program was 
established to assist property owners with larger reinvestments of new construction projects. These 
grants range from $5,000 to $75,000 and can be used for any capital construction activity inside the 
district. In 2023, the program allocated a $350,000 budget and nine projects were submitted for 
consideration.24 Finally, the Traded Sector Business Attraction Program (La Grande Business and 
Technology Park) provides cash incentives for commercial and industrial projects, with a primary focus 
on the La Grande Business and Technology Park. The program awards grants up to $200,000, with a 
minimum project cost of $500,000.25 

In conjunction with the URA, La Grande has a tax increment financing (TIF) district. The TIF district allows 
La Grande to capture the future anticipated increase in tax revenues that is generated by a project in 
order to invest in current urban renewal.  

  

                                                           
23 Summary Points, Eastern Oregon University Evaluation, February 2022, 
https://www.oregon.gov/highered/research/Documents/Reports/2021-University-Evaluation-EOU.pdf.  
24 “Urban Renewal Agency, Urban Renewal Advisory Commission to allocate $350,000 in project funding”, Isabella 
Crowley, The La Grande Observer, https://www.lagrandeobserver.com/news/local/urban-renewal-agency-urban-
renewal-advisory-commission-to-allocate-350-000-in-project-funding/article_6d1d65c2-186d-11ee-9e71-
d76569643800.html, accessed August, 2023.  
25 City of La Grande website, https://www.lagrandeed.com/about/city-of-la-grande-urban-renewal-
agency/p/item/13587/urban-renewal-funding-opportunities-policy, accessed August, 2023.  

https://www.oregon.gov/highered/research/Documents/Reports/2021-University-Evaluation-EOU.pdf
https://www.lagrandeobserver.com/news/local/urban-renewal-agency-urban-renewal-advisory-commission-to-allocate-350-000-in-project-funding/article_6d1d65c2-186d-11ee-9e71-d76569643800.html
https://www.lagrandeobserver.com/news/local/urban-renewal-agency-urban-renewal-advisory-commission-to-allocate-350-000-in-project-funding/article_6d1d65c2-186d-11ee-9e71-d76569643800.html
https://www.lagrandeobserver.com/news/local/urban-renewal-agency-urban-renewal-advisory-commission-to-allocate-350-000-in-project-funding/article_6d1d65c2-186d-11ee-9e71-d76569643800.html
https://www.lagrandeed.com/about/city-of-la-grande-urban-renewal-agency/p/item/13587/urban-renewal-funding-opportunities-policy
https://www.lagrandeed.com/about/city-of-la-grande-urban-renewal-agency/p/item/13587/urban-renewal-funding-opportunities-policy


 
 
 
 
 

 
51 | P a g e  
 

Figure 47: City of La Grande Urban Renewal District  

Source: City of La Grande  

Recreational Assets 
La Grande is in an area of outstanding natural resources. Surrounded by mountains, rivers, and National 
Forests, La Grande is a destination for many seeking outdoor recreation. These assets not only create an 
economic impact due to tourist traffic but serve as a magnet for a workforce that is looking for a high 
quality of life with exceptional recreational opportunities. Some of the most notable recreational 
opportunities in the area include:  

• Morgan Lake 
• Mt Emily Recreation Area 
• Ladd Marsh Wildlife Area 
• Grande Ronde River 
• The Grande Tour Scenic Bikeway 
• Hells Canyon Scenic Byway 
• The Grande Tour Route 
• Umatilla National Forest 



 
 
 
 
 

 
52 | P a g e  
 

• Wallowa-Whitman National Forest 
• Fox Hill Campground 
• Hot Lake Springs 
• The Blue Mountains 

Land Availability Limitations 
Information from the City of La Grande Economic Development office indicates that a lack of 
appropriately sized lots that owners are willing to part with has been an issue in closing economic 
development deals over the past several years. In any industry involving sales, it is important to study 
such “lost leads” as it can help explain what factors lead to the prospect not accepting the deal. In this 
case, it can help the City of La Grande understand what prevented an otherwise feasible business 
expansion or relation.  

Several examples can be cited as evidence that existing lands in the UGB are not suitable for the needs 
of prospective businesses. In summer 2023, the City of La Grande failed to secure a prospective outdoor 
equipment manufacturing company that was looking for 100-acres of industrially zoned land. Though 
these lands are technically available within the La Grande UGB, existing private landowners were not 
willing to sell their land at that time. Earlier in 2023, a package distribution center was also forced to 
look elsewhere when company representatives were unable to find a willing seller in proximity to the 
Business Park and airport.26  

Parcels that are owned by the City or the URA have drawn some interest from buyers but there are only 
four remaining vacant parcels, which are each roughly an acre in size. Among private landowners, there 
are several unaffiliated private owners who have shown an unwillingness to sell the land when offered a 
market rate price. To cite several prominent examples:  

• One 40+ acre parcel in the vicinity of the airport is a registered Oregon Century Farm. Part of 
this parcel is zoned industrial and part agricultural. Though Century Farm’s status with the 
Oregon Farm Bureau Foundation27 puts no legal limitations on land-use, it does project a desire 
for the owners to maintain the land in line with historic agricultural usage.  

• Much of the land zoned as “Business Park” along Gekeler and HWY-30 is owned by a privately-
owned by a single private-sector company.  

Lost industrial opportunities are the easiest to identify because there is such a drastic gulf between 
supply and demand, the issue has also affected commercial opportunities as well. La Grande’s growth 
and economic diversity has drawn attention from a variety of business investors in fields as diverse as 
commercial offices, grocery stores, breweries, and hotels. In most cases, these investors are looking for 
greenfield between 18-60 acres that can be built to the owners’ specifications. The lack of contiguous 
commercial parcels of these sizes has made these opportunities a non-starter.  

                                                           
26 Memo from City of La Grande Economic Development Department, dated July 31, 2023 
27 Oregon Century Farm & Ranch Program: https://centuryfarm.oregonfb.org/  

https://centuryfarm.oregonfb.org/


 
 
 
 
 

 
53 | P a g e  
 

Recommendations for Economic Development Enhancements 
In the course of the project team’s work, we observed certain opportunities that could be worth further 
investment to spur economic development over the next 20-years. The recommendations are not 
directed to any particular body, as the organization to take action depends on the location, the 
resources, and the interest in taking the next steps. These ideas are briefly summarized below:  

Challenging Parcels & Goal 14: The cluster of industrial parcels in the southeast corner of the City 
including both the business park and adjacent to the airport face significant limitations due to ownership 
issues. These conditions call for a deep dive of land use opportunities via the Goal 14 process, which the 
City of La Grande is already in the process of implementing. In particular, the Goal 14 process should 
include conversations with landowners in the area to the south of Island City and the east of La Grande 
(i.e., south of Cove Ave/Buchanan Lane), which could potentially be annexed by either city.28 That said, 
the City of La Grande needs to approach these topics carefully in light of Ballot Measure 7 and the 
potential for takings disputes.  

Strategic Investment within the Urban Renewal District: The consulting team’s site visit and 
subsequent research indicate that there are numerous land-owners across the City who are making 
suboptimal use of their commercial and industrial properties. Though the City cannot force change on 
these property owners, investing in capital and community assets through the URA could help leverage 
market change in that direction. Investing in lands (whether owned by the city or private investors) in 
the small and medium sized lots (identified in Figures 6 and 7) within the UGA are among the best tools 
that the City has for upping the standard for commercial and industrial properties in the City. The BLI 
identifies numerous small parcels that are redevelopable or vacant along Adams Street and Jefferson 
Street. The economic development department could take a targeted approach to discuss URA funded 
upgrades to these properties.  

City Acquiring More Real Estate Assets: As noted in the Economic Development Opportunities 
section of this study, the challenge for the City of La Grande is not strictly the number of employment 
lands available, as there are a fair number of small in-fill parcels available throughout town. A 
compounding challenge is that the City only owns 12 parcels that are considered redevelopable or 
vacant. None of these parcels are larger than 1.1 acres and overall compose just 3.9 acres.29  

• The process of cities acquiring raw land for redevelopment is challenging in Oregon outside of 
brownfield situations. That said, there appears to be no prohibition against municipal agencies 
being long-term owners of commercial and industrial properties that can be leased out to 
businesses. In fact, this practice is quite common among Oregon’s Ports, for example, as 15 of 
the 23 state sanctioned Ports lease land to private sector tenants.30 This strategy could coincide 
well with La Grande’s intentions of developing a maker-space corridor along Jefferson Street. 

                                                           
28 Conversations would need to be conducted in accordance with Union County Zoning, Partition and Subdivision 
Ordinances, particularly article 18.00 associated with the La Grande and Island City UGA Overlay Zone: 
https://union-county.org/planning/  
29 Points Consulting based on BLI Analysis and Union County Tax Assessor data.  
30 Points Consulting county based on review of Port websites as of July 2023.  

https://union-county.org/planning/


 
 
 
 
 

 
54 | P a g e  
 

Many early-stage businesses need flex-space but do not have the cash for a long-term lease or 
for purchasing a building. This could also be deployed in combination with a co-working space 
and/or business incubator model. If successful, such an establishment could also serve to spur 
further demand for industrial lands, as these businesses grow and expand. The starting point of 
this action would require finding suitable property that could be purchased, renovated, and 
managed by the City’s economic development department.   

• Oregon’s HB 2734, passed in 2015, provides one possible avenue for the City of La Grande to 
acquire under or unused industrial lands for redevelopment. Specifically, the legislation deals 
with brownfield properties with contamination issues. Though such properties may be limited or 
come with some expense, opportunities could arise particularly related to decommissioned gas 
stations and former industrial sites. The University of Oregon published a helpful white paper on 
this topic, Lots of Opportunity: Using Oregon’s Land Banking Legislation to Spur Brownfield 
Development, that provides guidance related to strategies, funding, and local governance 
issues.31 This process has been utilized in Clackamas County in 2019, published in the Business 
Plan for the Clackamas County Land Bank Authority.32 

Private Sector Development Spurred by Market Forces: The seeming intractability of private 
landowners to either sell or develop parcels in strategic locations is an ongoing challenge for the City of 
La Grande. This is a common issue for communities outside of metropolitan areas. Properties can be 
more difficult to develop (or redevelop) because they are owned by people who are not accustomed to 
high-stakes real estate transactions. Furthermore, they are often tied up in estates or trusts with 
numerous decision makers who may have differing priorities. Though difficult in the short-run, so long 
as economic development is progressing in a positive direction, market forces do tend to soften 
landowners’ perspectives in the long-run. The economic concept of first-movers’ advantage helps 
describe these situations. An opportunity to provide a productive real estate asset map currently exists, 
but due to the relatively small pool of people in the market, it has yet to be exploited. One or two real 
estate developers will be the first to make a move but when other landowners see the feasibility and 
profitability of their projects, they often follow suit. As mentioned, this does not happen overnight and 
often may take a new generation of decision makers to take advantage of the opportunities. The 
investments and strategies in the aforementioned recommendations could be part of the catalyst for 
creating a more lucrative real estate market for such investors. 

Appendix A: Supplementary Data 
Census Profile 
The profile of La Grande put out by the US Census Bureau states that the city has an overall area of 4.61 
square miles, 0.03 square miles of which is water. North of La Grande is Mount Emily, and northeast of 
La Grande is Island City, a city smaller than La Grande (2020 population being 1,144). 

                                                           
31 Kelsey, Zlevor, Lots of Opportunity: Using Oregon’s Land Banking Legislation to Spur Brownfield Redevelopment, 
(2016) https://scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/handle/1794/19955.  
32 Clackamas County CCLBA Business Plan, https://www.clackamas.us/meetings/bcc/presentation/2019-04-09-2.  

https://scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/handle/1794/19955
https://www.clackamas.us/meetings/bcc/presentation/2019-04-09-2


 
 
 
 
 

 
55 | P a g e  
 

Table 19: La Grande Supplemental Data  
 2000 Census 2010 Census 2020 Census  

People 12,327 13,082 13,026 
Households 5,124 5,395 5,378 
Housing Units 5,483 5,794 5,843 
Families  2,982 3,073 3,275 
Population Density  2,833.5/sq mile 2656.3/sq mile. ---- 
Housing Density 1,260.3/sq mile 1.265.1/sq mile. ---- 

Source: United States Census Bureau, 2023. 

La Grande 2019 Housing Needs Analysis 
According to projections, La Grande's population is expected to grow at a rate of 0.45% annually for the 
next 20 years, resulting in an increase of more than 1,392 people. To accommodate this growth, the city 
will need to add 795 new housing units, with 42% of the demand being for single-family homes, 45% for 
a combination of townhouses, apartments, and other multi-unit residences, and 13% for manufactured 
homes and other housing types. 

The number of low-income households in La Grande, which are defined as those earning 80% or less 
than the median family income for Union County, represents over 50% of all households. Additionally, 
almost one out of every four households who rent their homes spend more than half of their income on 
housing costs. 

Currently, La Grande has a waitlist of six months for affordable housing and a very low vacancy rate of 
less than 5% for high-quality rental apartments. Despite this, the analysis of housing needs indicates that 
the city's UGB is sufficient to meet future housing demands. 

However, based on an evaluation of projected incomes and housing costs, it will be necessary for La 
Grande to consider rezoning lower-density residential land to high-density residential land in suitable 
areas. 

Union County Economic Development Corporation, Business Retention & 
Expansion Program 2011/2012: Business Visitation Summary Report 
The BR&E Program’s initial focus is gathering critical and necessary baseline data and information from 
the local business community to support the development of strategies and programs that directly assist 
business in Union County.  The baseline data and information, used to measure changes identified in 
subsequent survey activity, enhances local knowledge of the economy and local awareness of resources 
needed to support local business. 

The BR&E business visitation and survey task force identified 48 businesses in Union County to be 
contacted and visited in 2011. Of the 48, 37 (77%) gave their time to sit with a BR&E interview team and 
complete the survey.  

Summary of Interview Findings: 



 
 
 
 
 

 
56 | P a g e  
 

• Local firms have had mixed experiences with sales of goods/services over the past three years, 
and going forward, firms are optimistic that the local economy will improve or at least remain 
stable in terms of sales. 

• Firms are aware of emerging technologies and market forces that affect their business, and they 
are taking steps to address these challenges. 

• Most of the firms interviewed make most of their sales in the "Local" and "Regional" markets, 
and they see the growth of businesses and population in Union County as important factors for 
their future success and growth. 

• Most of the firms interviewed only have a small percentage of sales via the internet, and they do 
not use the internet significantly to purchase goods and services. 

• Local firms expect to restore lost jobs and add new jobs over the next three years, but 
recruitment of skilled workers is a challenge due to factors such as distance from metro areas, 
lower wages, and limited opportunities for advancement. The lack of trade sector vocational 
training programs in Union County also exacerbates this issue. 

• The advantages of doing business in Union County cited by the interviewed firms include the 
location of La Grande/Union County as the "Hub of NE Oregon," connectivity to I-84 in both east 
and west directions, and quality of life. 

• Disadvantages of doing business in Union County cited by the interviewed firms include the lack 
of growth, distance to metro markets, difficulty in recruiting skilled workers, and limited 
availability of local vocational training programs. 

In the past 3 years, 46 percent of firms interviewed stated there was an increase in sales, with an 
average increase of 21%. Sales decreased by 43% with an average decrease of 31%. 11% of businesses 
reported no change in the past three years. 

In the future 3 years, 65% of businesses were optimistic about an increase in sales, with 16% estimating 
no change. 14% did not report on this metric, and 5% assume a decrease. The expectation of economic 
recovery was 8% for the next three years. 

Market Technology and Emerging Forces 

• 70% of the respondent firms acknowledged that emerging technologies or market forces would 
affect their businesses. 

• The most frequently mentioned impacts on businesses were the rapid change in internet usage, 
social networking, and advanced software, as well as technological advances in equipment and 
machinery. 

• Other impacts included the state of the general economy, new competition from local, regional, 
national, and international sources, customer preferences, and the need to expand one's market 
reach with new products/services and/or entering new geographic areas. 

• Regarding the nature of the impact of these forces on local businesses, the respondents had a 
mildly positive perspective. 

• 38% of respondents saw a positive impact on production, while only 8% saw a negative impact 
on production. 



 
 
 
 
 

 
57 | P a g e  
 

• 43% of respondents saw an impact on sales, with 27% being positive and 16% being negative. 
• Companies were asked about the geographic location of their goods and services. 
• 21 companies interviewed (57%) use the internet to buy goods and supplies. 
• For 11 companies, internet purchases account for 15% or less of their total purchases. 
• The other 10 companies report that 25% to 99% of their purchases are made online, with an 

average of about 73% for this group of companies. 
• The most frequently purchased goods and services in Union County are office supplies and 

maintenance items and services, mentioned by 60% of the companies surveyed. 
• Almost half of the respondents (49%) also purchase vehicles, servicing, and fuel. 
• Some companies obtain other goods and services locally, such as machining and welding 

services, parts and shop supplies, accounting, payroll, and billing services, shipping, and food. 
These were mentioned by at least one company. 

• Firms were asked to identify potential businesses to target for recruitment to Union County. 
Though a small percentage responded, these included a high response rate from the 
manufacturing sector. Most firms responded with the need for more jobs and people, but other 
responses included construction, steel fabrication, cabinet manufacturing, print shops and laser 
cutting. 

• 37 companies reported employment data, at 3,420 people employed, and 3,479 cumulative 
employed in the past 3 years. The prediction for the next three years is 3,699. 

• 49% of the firms report that they have a peak season for employment, with nearly all being 
summer, occasionally combined with spring or fall. 70% of the firms report that for any aspect of 
business, there is no outsourcing outside of the region. 

• 78% reported that there were no problems with employee turnover, and 16% reported facing 
such issues. The reasons cited for employee turnover were drug and alcohol use, attendance 
problems, and the need to acquire or maintain a commercial driver's license. Notably, housing 
was not identified as a contributing factor to employee turnover. 

• Expansion: 
• 76% of the firms said they have enough owned or leased property at their current site to 

accommodate expansion. 
• 22% of the firms reported they don't have enough space at their present location for expansion. 
• 68% of the firms have adequate property within Union County to facilitate expansion. 
• 24% of firms that had surplus property or buildings responded that they would be willing to sell 

it as a surplus. 
• The biggest reported challenges for building improvements are permitting, zone variances, city 

and county planning, new local vendors, and design challenges. 
• None of the interviewed firms report their intention to close. 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
58 | P a g e  
 

Appendix B: Zoning Code Definitions 
The following tables summarize the intent and the desired characteristics for the Commercial and 
Industrial Zoning Districts outlined in the La Grande Zoning Code.   

2.2.007 – “RP” Residential Professional Zone 
Intent The purpose of the “R-P” Residential Professional zone is to provide for a desirable 

mixing of residential land uses with professional office uses in possible close 
proximity to adjacent residential areas. 

Permitted Uses  Single-family, duplex dwellings 
Conditional Uses Lodging facilities- limited to bed and breakfast inns and planned unit development 
Min Lot Size  One acre 
Residential Density One single-family or duplex dwelling unit per lot  
Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C)33 Fifteen feet, fifteen feet, five feet, fifteen feet 
Height Thirty-five feet 
Parking Requirements One and one-half spaces per dwelling unit for multiple family and one space per 

each single family and duplex unit 
 
2.2.008 – “CB” Central Business Zone 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide for the development of intensive consumer 
services and retail commercial activities in the central core area of the City. 

Permitted Uses  Administrative & professional services, retail, other services 
Conditional Uses Automotive & equipment, community education, community recreation, religious 

assembly 
Min Lot Size  No minimum required lot area 
Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C) No required minimum, no required minimum unless abutting an alley or a 

residential zone, no required minimum unless abutting a residential zone or an R-P 
zone, fifteen feet 

Height Sixty feet 
Parking Requirements One space for each 200 square feet of net floor area, plus one space for every two 

employees 
 
2.2.009 – “GC” General Commercial Zone 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide the full range of retail goods and services 
serving a large area which normally requires a large space for development. 

Permitted Uses  Retail, administrative & professional services, automotive & equipment, food & 
beverage 

Conditional Uses Animal sales and services, lodging: campgrounds, resorts & emergency shelters 
Min Lot Size  Two thousand five hundred square feet 
Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C) No required minimum, no required minimum unless abutting an alley or a 

residential zone, no required minimum unless abutting a residential zone or an R-P 
zone, fifteen feet 

                                                           
33 “F, R, S, and C” refer to setbacks for front yards, rear yards, side yards, and corner lots. 



 
 
 
 
 

 
59 | P a g e  
 

Height Fifty feet 
Parking Requirements One space for each 400 square feet of gross floor area devoted to retail sales plus 

one space for each employee, or twenty spaces plus one space for each 400 square 
feet of gross floor area devoted to retail sales in excess of 5,000 square feet plus 
one space for each employee and employer if over 5,000 square feet of floor area 

 
2.2.010 – “IC” Interchange Commercial Zone 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide commercial services and goods in places 
conveniently and safely accessible to highways. 

Permitted Uses  Accessory structures, automotive & equipment, fuel sales, lodging: motels, hotels, 
and bed & breakfasts 

Conditional Uses Extensive impact services & utilities, lodging: campground and resort, religious 
assembly 

Min Lot Size  Two thousand five hundred square feet 
Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C) No required minimum, no required minimum unless abutting an alley or a 

residential zone, no required minimum unless abutting a residential zone or an R-P 
zone, fifteen feet 

Height Fifty feet 
Parking Requirements One space for each 800 square feet of gross floor area plus one space for each 

employee and employer 
 
2.2.011 – “I1” Light Industrial 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide for areas where manufacturing, storage, 
sorting and wholesaling distribution can be undertaken in close proximity to one 
another without encroaching upon the character of the adjacent land uses. 

Permitted Uses  Accessory structures, automotive & equipment, general industrial, wholesaling 
Conditional Uses Agricultural supplies & services, animal sales & services, building maintenance 

services 
Min Lot Size  No minimum required 
Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C) No required minimum, no required minimum unless abutting an alley or a 

residential zone, no required minimum unless abutting a residential zone or an R-P 
zone, fifteen feet 

Height Fifty feet 
Parking Requirements One space for each 800 square feet of gross floor area plus one space for each 

employee and employer 
 
2.2.012 – “I-2” Heavy Industrial 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide for areas where large areas of land are 
needed for the fabrication, processing, and movements of raw materials and where 
the potential impacts of noise, odor, vibration, glare, and/or heat are least likely to 
affect adjacent land uses. 

Permitted Uses  Accessory structures, automotive & equipment, general industrial, heavy industrial 
Conditional Uses Animal sales & services, communications services, research services 
Min Lot Size  No minimum required 
Lot Coverage  



 
 
 
 
 

 
60 | P a g e  
 

Setbacks (F,R,S,C) No required minimum, no required minimum unless abutting an alley or a 
residential zone, no required minimum unless abutting a residential zone or an R-P 
zone, fifteen feet 

Height Sixty feet 
Parking Requirements One space for each 800 square feet of gross floor area plus one space for each 

employee and employer 
 
2.2.013 – “PF” Public Facilities Zone 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide areas primarily for the location and 
establishment of facilities which are maintained in public and quasi-public 
ownership and which utilize relatively large areas of land. 

Permitted Uses  Cemeteries, civic administrative services, community education, community 
recreation, cultural exhibits & library services 

Conditional Uses Animal sales & services, medical services, postal services 
Min Lot Size  No minimum required 
Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C) None required with the exception of matching the residential setback required if 

abutting a residential zone 
Height Thirty-five feet with a maximum of sixty feet when accommodating for residential 

zone setback 
Parking Requirements Five spaces per classroom, plus one space for every two employees, plus one space 

per each fleet vehicle, plus the requirements for public assembly 
 
2.2.014 – “BP” Business Park Zone 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide areas for the establishment of light 
manufacturing and warehousing uses in a park-like setting, with flexibility for siting 
of certain commercial/office uses where appropriate. 

Permitted Uses  Accessory structures, administrative & professional services, building maintenance 
services, business equipment sales & services, general industrial 

Conditional Uses Extensive impact services & utilities – limited to substations and electrical 
generation facilities 

Min Lot Size  One half acre for lots intended primarily for commercial or office use and one acre 
for lots intended primarily for industrial or warehouse use 

Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C) No required minimum, no required minimum unless abutting an alley or a 

residential zone, no required minimum unless abutting a residential zone or an R-P 
zone, fifteen feet 

Height Sixty feet 
Parking Requirements One space for every two employees, or not less than one space for each five 

hundred square feet of gross floor area, plus one space for each fleet vehicle 
 
2.2.015 – “MS” Medical Services 

Intent The purpose of this zone is to provide for the expansion and establishment of 
hospitals, health services, medical offices and associated medical residential 
facilities. 

Permitted Uses  Medical services – hospitals, medical clinics, dental clinics, etc., group care 
residential, accessory structures 



 
 
 
 
 

 
61 | P a g e  
 

Conditional Uses Eating & drinking establishments – limited to cafes or cafeterias, extensive impact 
services & utilities – limited to fire stations, ambulance services, helistops 

Min Lot Size  No minimum required 
Lot Coverage  
Setbacks (F,R,S,C) None specified 
Height Not specified 
Parking Requirements One space for each doctor and each employee plus one space for each 300 square 

feet of gross floor area 
 
  



 
 
 
 
 

 
62 | P a g e  
 

Appendix C: Parcel Details for Redevelopable and Vacant 
Lands 
The following tables contain material details for the parcels in La Grande that qualify as vacant or 
redevelopable. Lists are rank-ordered from largest amount of buildable land to smallest. Any parcel with 
less than one net buildable acre of space is excluded from this table. The arithmetic behind reductions 
due to environmental or physical development constraints is excluded in order to conserve page space. 
Also, the lists exclude ownership information in order to protect the confidentiality of private 
landowners. Such details are available via the Union County Tax Assessors office, if required for further 
research.  

Table 20: Vacant Industrial Parcels in La Grande 

Map Loca�on (Sec�on, 
Township, Range) Tax Lot Zoning 

District Gross Acreage Total Buildable Acres 

03S38E23 100 I-2 117.5 117.5 
03S38E23 1400 I-2 87.2 87.2 
03S38E16B 100 BP 49.9 19.0 
03S38E 8000 I-2 9.9 9.9 
03S38E16AC 100 BP 5.4 5.4 
03S38E16BD 300 BP 6.3 4.4 
03S38E16AC 500 BP 4.2 4.2 
03S38E16AC 200 BP 3.9 3.9 
03S38E15 1100 I-2 10.0 3.1 
03S38E16AC 600 BP 4.2 2.2 
03S38E23 1501 I-2 2.0 2.0 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using Union County Tax Assessor’s Office Data 

Table 21: Redevelopable Industrial Parcels in La Grande 

Map Loca�on (Sec�on, 
Township, Range) Tax Lot Zoning 

District Gross Acreage Total Buildable Acres 

03S38E23 1500 I-2 45.9 32.1 
03S38E08AD 101 I-1 2.0 1.9 
03S38E05CD 6200 I-1 1.4 1.4 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using Union County Tax Assessor’s Office Data 

Table 22: Vacant Commercial Parcels in La Grande 

Map Loca�on (Sec�on, 
Township, Range) Tax Lot Zoning 

District Gross Acreage Total Buildable Acres 

03S38E04AB 100 GC 11.6 11.3 
03S38E04 10800 GC 4.0 4.0 
03S38E04 9802 GC 3.0 3.0 
03S38E04CA 1301 GC 2.4 2.4 



 
 
 
 
 

 
63 | P a g e  
 

03S38E04 9801 GC 1.9 1.9 
03S38E04BD 2902 GC 1.7 1.7 
03S38E04CC 601 GC 1.7 1.6 
03S38E04CA 1700 GC 1.5 1.5 
03S38E04CA 600 IC 1.4 1.4 
03S38E04DC 703 GC 1.2 1.2 
03S38E04CA 1400 GC 1.3 1.2 
03S38E04DC 702 GC 1.2 1.2 
03S38E08DA 1201 GC 1.0 1.0 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using Union County Tax Assessor’s Office Data 

Table 23: Redevelopable Commercial Parcels in La Grande 

Map Loca�on (Sec�on, 
Township, Range) Tax Lot Zoning 

District Gross Acreage Total Buildable Acres 

03S38E08AB 6600 GC 2.1 2.1 
03S38E08DA 500 GC 1.2 1.2 
03S38E08DA 1200 GC 1.1 1.1 
03S38E08DA 1500 GC 1.0 1.0 

Source: Nexus Planning Services using Union County Tax Assessor’s Office Data 

 

  



 
 
 
 
 

 
64 | P a g e  
 

Appendix D: Full Size Maps of La Grande Vacant and 
Redevelopable Lands 
The following pages contains these maps in the following order:  

• City of La Grande Employment Lands Zoning  
• City of La Grande Employment Lands Constraints 
• City of La Grande, Buildable Employment Lands Inventory (All Employment Zones) 
• City of La Grande, Buildable Employment Lands Inventory (Commercial/Industrial) 
• City of La Grande, Buildable Lands Inventory (Large Lots, >10 Acres) 
• City of La Grande, Buildable Lands Inventory (Medium Lots, 2-10 Acres) 
• City of La Grande, Buildable Lands Inventory (Small Lots, 1-2 Acres) 

 

 



 
 
 

 
1 | P a g e  
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 

 



EXHIBIT B 

 

LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE ORDINANCE 3266, SERIES 2023 

ARTICLE 8.9 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DOCUMENT AMENDMENT 

SECTION 8.9.003 – REVIEW CRITERIA 

A proposed Land Development Code Amendment shall be approved if the reviewing 
authority finds: (A) That the proposed amendment is in compliance with Oregon 
Planning Goals; (B) That the proposed amendment is in conformance with the 
policies of the Comprehensive Plan; and, (C) That the proposed amendment is 
supported by specific studies or other factual information which documents the 
public need for the amendment. 

 

A. Statewide Planning Goals 
 
The Goal 9 chapter of the City of La Grande comprehensive plan was last updated in 2009.  Since that 
time, La Grande has been fortunate in seeing a number of commercial projects come to fruition which 
has resulted in a significant decrease in available commercial sites for new development.  Over the 
past 10-15 years, significant projects have included the development of several large commercial 
parcels along Island Avenue (Hwy 82), Mulholland Drive and May Lane to support new or expanding 
businesses such as Starbucks, Banner Bank, Napa Auto Parts, Commercial Tire, Hampton Inn Suites 
and Miller’s Home Center.  In addition to these, a number of smaller infill projects have also occurred 
throughout the City.  As a result of these projects, the City’s current Goal 9 commercial and 
industrial land needs analysis is no longer up to date with accurate data.  Additionally, the vacant 
commercial land inventory has been reduced to critical levels with a very limited supply of land available 
for both new business recruitment and the expansion of existing local businesses, which warrants 
updating the Goal 9 chapter of the comprehensive plan. 
 
The City finds that only Statewide Planning Goal 1, Goal 2 and Goal 9 are directly applicable to the 
proposed amendments, as these goals address procedural requirement for the adoption process which 
provide citizens the opportunity to participate in the amendment process and requires that all decision 
shall be made on a factual basis. 
 

1. STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 1 – CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT 
To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the opportunity for citizens to be 
involved in all phases of the planning process. 
 
The citizen involvement program shall incorporate the following components: 

1. Citizen Involvement – To provide for widespread citizen involvement. 
2. Communication – To assure effective two-way communication with citizens. 
3. Citizen Influence – To provide the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of 

the planning process. 
4. Technical Information – To assure that technical information is available in an 

understandable form. 
5. Feedback Mechanisms – To assure that citizens will receive a response from policy-

makers. 
6. Financial Support – To insure funding for the citizen involvement program. 

 
 
Finding:  The City of La Grande has an established and adopted citizen involvement program 
that includes providing mailed notice to the owners of every property within the City of 
La Grande and its Urban Growth Boundary.  The City has reached out and interviewed several 
stakeholders in the community, and held work sessions before the planning commission, urban 



renewal advisory commission and city council, that were advertised and open to the public.  
Citizens have had several opportunities to learn about the proposed amendments and engage 
in the process of drafting the proposed amendments.  The adoption process includes six (6) 
public hearings; three (3) before the City of La Grande and three (3) before Union County.  All 
City of La Grande meetings are open to the public for participation in-person or virtually.  
Additionally, all meetings are held via Zoom meetings and broadcast live on the City Manager’s 
Facebook page.  All meeting materials are made available for electronic download, free of 
charge, from the City of La Grande Planning Division website.  Printed copies are available for 
viewing or purchase, upon request, at the Planning Division office.  All interested citizens have 
had the opportunity to participate in all phases of the process and submit written comments, 
up until 5:00 p.m. on the date of the meetings.  Such comments are or will be read into the 
record during the public comment period of the meeting.  The City of La Grande Planning 
Commission and/or City Council have or will respond to comments during their deliberations 
and decision making. 

 
 

2. STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 2 – LAND USE PLANNING 
To establish a land use planning process and policy frameworks as a basis for all decision and 
actions related to use of land and to assure an adequate factual base for such decisions and 
actions. 
 
All land-use plans and implementation ordinances shall be adopted by the governing body after 
public hearing and shall be reviewed and, as needed, revised on a periodic cycle to take into 
account changing public policies and circumstances, in accord with a schedule set forth in the plan. 
Opportunities shall be provided for review and comment by citizens and affected governmental 
units during preparation, review and revision of plans and implementation ordinances. 
 
Finding:  For this Statewide Planning Goal, the proposed Goal 9 comprehensive plan amendments 
address changes in the conditions or circumstances within the City of La Grande as it relates to 
economic development, available land supply and needed lands. 
 
To address the available land supply shortage, the City proactively decided in 2022 to move forward 
with a self-funded Goal 9 economic opportunities analysis to evaluate the City’s existing 
commercial and industrial land inventory, to forecast the next 20-year economic growth and land 
need and to update the Goal 9 Economic Development chapter of the La Grande Comprehensive 
Plan.  In February 2023, the City contracted with Points Consulting & Nexus Planning Services to 
conduct a Goal 9 economic opportunities analysis and buildable lands inventory (Goal 9 EOA). 
 
The 2023 Goal 9 EOA identifies La Grande having an employment growth in the range of 470 and 
760 jobs over the next twenty-years (2023-2043), resulting in net job growth of +7.5% to +12%.  
Based solely on future employment growth, by 2043 La Grande will require: 31 additional acres of 
industrial lands and 28 additional acres of commercial lands.  Taking other qualitative factors into 
consideration, such as characteristics of parcel sizes and shapes, locations and geographic 
proximity to each other, site availability-willing sellers, and other factors, the Goal 9 EOA identifies 
a greater demand a need of +121 acres of industrial zoned land and +63 acres of commercially 
zoned land 
 
To ensure that different business types are accommodated, the Goal 9 EOA identifies land uses 
being divided according to appropriate zoning districts. The identified 184 acres could result in 
between 48 and 88 additional lots spread across a variety of districts as follows: 
 

  



Required Lot Sizes for Additional Industrial & Commercial Lands 

District Type Acreage 
Range 

Gross 
Acreage 

High-End 
Lots 

Low-End 
Lots 

General Commercial (GC) 0.5 – 1 15.8 32 16 

Interchange Commercial (IC) or Other Low-
Intensity Commercial 

1.3 - 2.2 47.4 38 22 

Light Industrial (I-1) 4.5 - 7.5 48.3 11 6 

Heavy Industrial (I-2) 20 – 50 66.4 3 1 

Business Park (BP) 1.5 - 2.5 6.0 4 2 

Grand Total -- 183.9 88 48 

 
The full Economic Opportunities Analysis is provided in Exhibit a of this Decision Order. 
 
In addition to the Goal 9 EOA, the City’s urban renewal advisory commission, economic 
development director, community development director and city manager met to discuss and 
update the goals and policies provided in the Goal 9 chapter of the comprehensive plan.  The City’s 
economic development vision has slightly changed over the years, which warranted a few updates 
to the goals and policies. 
 
Based on the above, the Planning Commission and City Council’s decision to amend the 
comprehensive plan is being made on a factual basis, consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 2. 
 
 

3. STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 9 – ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of economic activities vital to 
the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon’s citizens. 

 
Finding:  This Statewide Planning Goal establishes State guidelines for developing 
Comprehensive Plans, which includes longer range planning efforts to ensure that the City has 
evaluated the local economic patterns and other characteristics, has sufficient commercial and 
industrial lands to meet is current and future needs, and established policies to guide economic 
development decisions. 
 
The proposed amendments are entirely focused on Goal 9 and ensuring that the City is complying 
with the short and long range planning requirements provided in Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 
660, Division 9.  The methodology used for forecasting and developing the Goal 9 EOA, along with 
the conclusions are discussed in the full EOA in Exhibit A of this report and are believed to be in 
conformance with OAR 660, Division9. 

 
 

B. City of La Grande Comprehensive Plan 
 

1. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN GOAL 1 – CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT 
Goal Statement - To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the opportunity for 
citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process. 

Policy 1 – The City of La Grande shall strive to provide for widespread citizen involvement, 
especially in its land use planning process. 

Policy 2 – The City of La Grande shall strive to assure effective two-way communication with 
citizens. 

Policy 3 – The City of La Grande shall strive to provide the opportunity for citizens to be 
involved in all phases of the planning process. 

Policy 4 – The City of La Grande shall strive to assure that technical information is available 
in an understandable form. 



Policy 5 – The City of La Grande shall strive to assure that citizens will receive a response 
from policy-makers 

Policy 8 – That the City of La Grande continue efforts to upgrade its web site to include land 
use information including, but not limited to: Comprehensive Plan, implementation 
ordinances, meeting agendas, meeting minutes, staff reports, hearing notices, land use 
maps, special events and opportunities to serve on committees or commissions. 

Policy 10 – That the City of La Grande produce printed materials that will enable citizens to 
understand technical aspects of the land use planning program and make such materials 
readily available to the public. 

Policy 12 – That the City of La Grande continue to provide all citizens who participate in the 
land use process with a copy of the final decision and findings. 
 

Finding:  The City of La Grande Comprehensive Plan, Goal 1, includes 14 policies that address 
citizen involvement.  The policies listed above focus on public engagement and participation in the 
public hearing process.  The remaining goals focus on the City’s overall public involvement program 
and ensuring to ensure that it includes a Citizen Involvement Committee, the program is funded, 
and that the City consider additional outreach efforts. 
 
The City of La Grande’s adopted land use process, per Chapter 9 of the Land Development Code 
Ordinance 3266, Series 2023, establishes the procedural requirement that implement the City 
public involvement program.  For the above listed policies, the City has reached out and interviewed 
several stakeholders in the community, and held work sessions before the planning commission, 
urban renewal advisory commission and city council, that were advertised and open to the public.  
Citizens have had several opportunities to learn about the proposed amendments and engage in 
the process of drafting the proposed amendments.   
 
As part of the formal public hearing and adoption process, there are six (6) public hearings; three 
(3) before the City of La Grande and three (3) before Union County.  In preparation for these 
hearings, the City Planning Department provided a City-wide public notice that was mailed to the 
owners of all properties within the City and Urban Growth Boundary.  The public notice included a 
link to the City’s Planning Division webpage, where all meeting materials and proposed 
amendments were published and made available for citizens to view and download electronically 
 
For each City public hearing, citizens are provided an opportunity to submit written comments, up 
until 5:00 p.m. on the public meeting date.  If a citizen or commenter is not present during the 
hearing, their comments are read into the record during the public commenter period of the hearing.  
Each City hearing is live broadcasted via Facebook Live on the City Manager’s Facebook page, 
and the Zoom meetings are electronically recorded with such recordings being available to the 
public any time after the meeting upon request.  Additionally, the City allows citizens to attend and 
participate in meetings virtually upon request. 

 
 

2. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN GOAL 2 – LAND USE PLANNING 

Objective 1 - The overall goal of the La Grande Comprehensive Plan is to provide direction for 
achieving a safe, healthful, attractive, and workable environment for the citizens of La Grande; and, 

Objective2 – To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all 
decisions and actions related to use of land and to assure and adequate factual base for such 
decisions and actions. 

Policy 1 – That planning related decisions will be made on a factual base, and that such base will 
be updated as base information changes, or at least every two years. 

Policy 3 - That public need be established before plan changes or related requests are approved 
and that the burden of proof be borne by the requestor. 
 
Finding:  The City of La Grande Comprehensive Plan, Goal 2, includes 11 policies that address 
various planning related elements.  Policies 1 and 3 are applicable to these proposed code 



amendments which focuses on establishing a “need” for the change and that such need is based 
on factual information. 
 
For the proposed comprehensive plan amendments, the initial driver was the City recognizing lost 
economic development opportunities as a result of a commercial land shortage or lack of choices.  
As a result, the City proactively decided in 2022 to move forward with a self-funded Goal 9 
economic opportunities analysis to evaluate the City’s existing commercial and industrial land 
inventory, to forecast the next 20-year economic growth and land need and to update the Goal 9 
Economic Development chapter of the La Grande Comprehensive Plan.  In February 2023, the 
City contracted with Points Consulting & Nexus Planning Services to conduct a Goal 9 economic 
opportunities analysis and buildable lands inventory (Goal 9 EOA), which was completed in October 
2023. 
 
The final Goal 9 EOA is provided in Exhibit A or this decision order and is based on factual data 
that identifies the City existing conditions and 20-year economic needs forecast, consistent with 
the City’s comprehensive plan and Statewide Planning Goal 2 
 

3. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN GOAL 9 – ECONOMIC DEVELPOMENT 
Finding:  The City’s comprehensive plan Goal 9 has the same focus as Statewide Planning Goal 
9, but in more detail.  The proposed amendments are entirely focused on complying with the short 
and long range planning requirements provided in Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660, Division 
9.  The methodology used for forecasting and developing the Goal 9 EOA, along with the 
conclusions are discussed in the full EOA in Exhibit A of this report and are believed to be in 
conformance with OAR 660, Division9. 
 
In addition to the Goal 9 EOA, the City’s urban renewal advisory commission, economic 
development director, community development director and city manager met to discuss and 
update the goals and policies provided in the Goal 9 chapter of the comprehensive plan.  These 
goals and policies are intended to guide future decision to implement the Goal 9 EOA.  
Implementation will occur when amending land use codes and economic development programs 
and managing related projects.   
 
The entire Goal 9 chapter of the comprehensive plan will be repealed and replaced with these 
updated goals and policies, along with the new Goal 9 EOA. 
 

C. Specific Studies or Other Factual Information 
 
As discussed previously, the Goal 9 chapter of the City of La Grande comprehensive plan was last 
updated in 2009.  Since that time, La Grande has been fortunate in seeing a number of commercial 
projects come to fruition which has resulted in a significant decrease in available commercial sites for 
new development.  Over the past 10-15 years, significant projects have included the development of 
several large commercial parcels along Island Avenue (Hwy 82), Mulholland Drive and May Lane to 
support new or expanding businesses such as Starbucks, Banner Bank, Napa Auto Parts, Commercial 
Tire, Hampton Inn Suites and Miller’s Home Center.  In addition to these, a number of smaller infill 
projects have also occurred throughout the City.  As a result of these projects, the City’s current 
Goal 9 commercial and industrial land needs analysis is no longer up to date with accurate data.  
Additionally, the vacant commercial land inventory has been reduced to critical levels with a very limited 
supply of land available for both new business recruitment and the expansion of existing local 
businesses, which warrants updating the Goal 9 chapter of the comprehensive plan. 
 



Agenda Item. 7.a. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  March 6, 2024 
 
PRESENTER:            Stu Spence, Parks & Recreation Director 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:    CONSIDER RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CITY STAFF TO APPLY FOR AN 

OREGON PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT GRANT TO REPLACE 
THE PLAYGROUND AT RIVERSIDE PARK 

 
 1.  MAYOR: Request Staff Report. 
 
 2.  MAYOR: Invite Public Comments. 
 

 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion. 
 
 4.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion: 
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move that the proposed Resolution 

authorizing the City Manager to sign the grant application for the 
Riverside Park Playground replacement be Read by Title Only, 
Put to a Vote and Passed as presented (or amended) and that 
the City Manager be authorized to accept the grant and sign any 
related documents, if awarded. 

  
 5.  MAYOR: Invite Additional Council Discussion. 
 
 6.  MAYOR: Ask the City Recorder to Read the proposed Resolution by Title 

Only. 
 
7.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote. 

********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  The Parks & Recreation Department’s Master Plan efforts in 2021, identified the 
Riverside Park Playground replacement as the number one priority for the department.  Staff successfully 
recruited a committee to lead the fundraising and design efforts.  With over 1,000 social media and in-
person interactions, the citizens selected a unique inclusive design that includes a 12-foot tower complete 
with wheel chair ramp inside.  The committee has been working hard raising money and, along with 
supplemental grants from staff, are very close to reaching their goal.  At time of construction, all funds will be 
secured.  This Oregon State Parks Local Government Grant program will provide 60% of the funding for the 
project equating to approximately $390,000. 
 
The City Manager recommends that the Council pass the proposed Resolution as presented by Staff. 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____ Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:      
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed #_____________ 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted #____________  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
  Effective Date:     



 

 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
RESOLUTION NUMBER _________ 

SERIES 2024 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA GRANDE, UNION COUNTY, 
OREGON, AUTHORIZING CITY OF LA GRANDE PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT STAFF 
TO APPLY FOR A LOCAL GOVERNMENT GRANT FROM THE OREGON PARKS AND RECREATION 

DEPARTMENT FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND REHABILITATION OF THE PLAYGROUND 
REPLACEMENT AT RIVERSIDE PARK; AUTHORIZING CITY MANAGER ROBERT A. STROPE TO 

SIGN THE GRANT APPLICATION AND ANY DOCUMENTS RELATED TO ACCEPTING THE GRANT 
IF AWARDED 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Oregon Parks and Recreation Department is accepting applications for the 
Local Government Grant Program; and,  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of La Grande, Union County, Oregon, desires to 
participate in this Grant Program to the greatest extent possible, as a means of providing needed 
park and recreation acquisitions, improvements, and enhancements; and, 

WHEREAS, the City Manager, Parks and Recreation Department Staff, Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Commission and City Council of the City of La Grande, Union County, 
Oregon, have identified the Riverside Park Playground as a high priority need in the City of La 
Grande and Union County, Oregon; and, 

WHEREAS, the existing wooden playground will be demolished and removed and replaced 
with a durable replacement that will promote accessibility and inclusivity for all children; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of La Grande, has available, the local matching funds required for this 
grant application, should the grant funds be awarded; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of La Grande will provide adequate funding for on-going operations 
and maintenance of this park and recreation facility should the grant funds be awarded; and, 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of La Grande, 
Union County, Oregon, as follows: 

 Section 1:  The City Council demonstrates its support for the submittal of a 
grant application to the Oregon Park and Recreation Department for 
the rehabilitation of the Riverside Park Playground. 

 Section 2: This Resolution shall be effective following its adoption by the City 
Council of the City of La Grande. 

  BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of La Grande, 
Union County, Oregon, that City Manager Robert A. Strope shall be and hereby is authorized to 
sign the grant application, and if awarded sign all required documentation to accept the grant. 



City of La Grande 
Resolution Number ________ 
Series 2024 
Page 2 

 

 

   PASSED and EFFECTIVE ON this Sixth (6th) day of March, 2024, by 
______________ (___) of ______________ (___) Councilors present and voting in the affirmative. 

     
 
        ____________________________ 
        Justin B. Rock, Mayor 
 
        ____________________________ 
        David Glabe, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
        ____________________________ 
        Corrine Dutto, Councilor 
 
        ____________________________ 
        Nicole Howard, Councilor 
 
        ____________________________ 
        Molly King, Councilor 
 
        ____________________________ 
        Mary Ann Miesner, Councilor 
 
        ____________________________ 
        Denise Wheeler, Councilor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Stacey M. Stockhoff 
City Recorder 

 



 

 

Agenda Item 7.b. 
Office Use Only 

CITY of LA GRANDE 
 

COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 

Council Meeting Date:  March 6, 2024  
 
PRESENTER:           Justin B. Rock, Mayor 
 
COUNCIL ACTION:          CONSIDER APPOINTMENT TO THE LIBRARY ADVISORY COMMISSION  
 
 1.  MAYOR: Explain Vacancy.  
 
 2.  MAYOR: Entertain Motion:  
 
  Suggested Motion:  I move that John Anderson be appointed to 

the Library Advisory Commission, for the remainder of a four-year 
term, which will expire December 31, 2024. 

 
 3.  MAYOR: Invite Council Discussion. 
  
 4.  MAYOR: Ask for the Vote. 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
EXPLANATION:  Chapter 357 of Oregon Revised Statues requires that a public library be governed by a Library 
Advisory Commission consisting of not less than five (5) members, serving for four (4)-year terms.  The Library 
Advisory Commission is charged to serve as advocates of the F. Maxine and Thomas W. Cook Memorial Library 
and its services and programs. Commissioners also review the Library Budget and consult with, advise and make 
recommendations to the Library Director, City Manager, and City Council. 
 
The five-member Library Advisory Commission currently has one vacancy. The vacancy is the result of a resignation 
and is for the remainder of a four-year term, which expires on December 31, 2024. 
 
Mr. Anderson has not previously served on any Commissions or Committees. 
 
Current members of the Library Advisory Commission and the expiration of their terms are: Barbara Minge, 2024; 
Meredee Lloyd, 2027; Susan Dennis, 2027; and Ryan Zastrow, 2027. All terms expire on December 31, of the 
year indicated. 
 
The appointment of Mr. Anderson would result in a full Commission. 
 
 
 
 
********************************************************************************************************************************* 
Reviewed By: (Initial)        COUNCIL ACTION (Office Use Only) 
City Manager  _____  Human Resources Dept _____   
City Recorder  _____  Library   _____   Motion Passed 
Aquatics Division  _____  Parks Department  _____   Motion Failed;     
Building Department _____  Planning Department _____   Action Tabled:     
ED Department _____ Police Department _____ Vote:     
Finance   _____  Public Works Department _____   
Fire Department   _____        Resolution Passed 
  Effective Date:     
 
           Ordinance Adopted  
  First Reading:     
  Second Reading:    
 Effective Date:     
 






	5.a. Goal 9 Amendments - Full Packet.pdf
	I. Application Information
	II. Schedule of Procedural and Public Hearing Requirements
	III. Public Notice Information
	IV. Review Process and Appeals
	V. Recommended Conclusions and Order
	VI. General Facts and Overview
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	5 - 01-CPA-24 Exhibit A and B.pdf
	2 - Decision Order EXHIBITS.pdf
	FINAL OR La Grande Goal 9 090823 REVISED.pdf
	1. Executive Summary & Recommendations
	Report Introduction
	Goal 9 Process


	2. Land Usage & Supply Assessment
	Methodology
	Maps
	Employment Lands Inventory
	Parcel Sizes

	3. Socioeconomic Conditions
	National Economic Overview
	Labor Force Participation, Employment & Unemployment
	Inflation
	International Issues & Supply Chain
	Recession Expectations

	Political & Regulatory Landscape
	Land Use & DLCD Priorities

	Regional Economic Overview
	Trends in Employment, Income and Business Establishments
	Migration & Population Change

	Union County & La Grande Socioeconomic Trends
	Population Overview
	Household Characteristics

	Employment, Earnings, and Establishment Trends
	Employment & Income in La Grande

	Commuter & Transportation Data

	4. Employment Forecast & Future Land Use Needs
	Employment Forecast
	Employment Lands Forecast
	Future Land Use Conclusions
	Parcel Sizes and Zoning Districts


	5. Community Engagement Summary
	Active and Growing Downtown
	Transportation, Manufacturing, Distribution, and Technology
	Labor Shortages
	Lack of Suitable Lodging
	Missed Opportunity with Highway Traffic
	Housing
	Local Desire for More Restaurants/Retail

	6. Economic Opportunities Assessment
	Economic Development Opportunities
	Cottage Manufacturing
	La Grande Business & Technology Park
	Healthcare Facilities and Treatment
	Eastern Oregon University
	La Grande Urban Renewal Agency and TIF District
	Recreational Assets

	Land Availability Limitations
	Recommendations for Economic Development Enhancements

	Appendix A: Supplementary Data
	Census Profile
	La Grande 2019 Housing Needs Analysis
	Union County Economic Development Corporation, Business Retention & Expansion Program 2011/2012: Business Visitation Summary Report

	Appendix B: Zoning Code Definitions
	Appendix C: Parcel Details for Redevelopable and Vacant Lands
	Appendix D: Full Size Maps of La Grande Vacant and Redevelopable Lands



	Blank Page




